Monsanto Petition (15-113-01p) for Determination of Nonregulated Status of Dicamba and Glufosinate Herbicide-Resistant MON 87419 Maize

OECD Unique Identifier: MON-87419-8

Preliminary Plant Pest Risk Assessment

February 2016

Agency Contact Cindy Eck Biotechnology Regulatory Services 4700 River Road USDA, APHIS Riverdale, MD 20737 Fax: (301) 734-8669

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, religion, age, disability, political beliefs, sexual orientation, or marital or family status. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA'S TARGET Center at (202) 720–2600 (voice and TDD).

To file a complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, Room 326–W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20250–9410 or call (202) 720–5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

Mention of companies or commercial products in this report does not imply recommendation or endorsement by the U.S. Department of Agriculture over others not mentioned. USDA neither guarantees nor warrants the standard of any product mentioned. Product names are mentioned solely to report factually on available data and to provide specific information.

This publication reports research involving pesticides. All uses of pesticides must be registered by appropriate State and/or Federal agencies before they can be recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	Introduction	1
B.	Development of MON 87419 Maize	3
C.	Description of Inserted Genetic Material, Its Inheritance and Expression, Gene Products, and Changes to Plant Metabolism	6
D.	Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts	. 14
E.	Potential Impacts on Nontarget Organisms Beneficial to Agriculture	. 19
F.	Potential for Enhanced Weediness of MON 87419 Maize	. 21
G.	Potential Impacts on the Weediness of Any Other Plants with which MON 87419 Maize Can Interbreed	. 25
H.	Potential Changes to Agriculture or Cultivation Practices	. 28
I.	Potential Impacts from Transfer of Genetic Information to Organisms with which MON 87419 Maize Cannot Interbreed	. 30
J.	Conclusion	. 34
K.	References	. 35

A. Introduction

Monsanto Company (hereafter referred to as Monsanto) has petitioned the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) for a determination that genetically engineered (GE) dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistant¹ maize event MON 87419 and OECD Unique Identifier MON-87419-8 (hereafter referred to as MON 87419 maize) is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk and, therefore, should no longer be a regulated article under APHIS' 7 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) part 340 (Introduction of Organisms and Products Altered or Produced Through Genetic Engineering Which Are Plant Pests or Which There Is Reason To Believe Are Plant Pests) (7 CFR part 340). This petition was assigned the number 15-113-01p and is hereafter referenced as Monsanto 2015 (Monsanto 2015a). APHIS administers 7 CFR part 340 under the authority of the plant pest provisions of the Plant Protection Act (PPA) of 2000 (7 USC 7701 *et seq.*)². This plant pest risk assessment (PPRA) was conducted to determine if MON 87419 maize is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk.

APHIS regulations in 7 CFR part 340 regulate the introduction (importation, interstate movement, or release into the environment) of certain GE organisms and products. A GE organism is no longer subject to the plant pest provisions of the PPA or to the regulatory requirements of 7 CFR part 340 when APHIS determines that it is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk. A GE organism is considered a regulated article under 7 CFR part 340 if the donor organism, recipient organism, or vector, or vector agent used in engineering the organism belongs to any genera or taxa designated in 7 CFR 340.2 and meets the definition of plant pest, or is an unclassified organism and/or an organism, or any other organism or product altered or produced through genetic engineering which the Administrator determines is a plant pest or has reason to believe is a plant pest³. MON 87419 maize was produced by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated transformation of immature embryos from inbred line LH244 using plasmid PV-ZMHT507801 (pp. 33-34,

¹ Monsanto has described the phenotype of MON 87419 maize as "herbicide tolerant" and historically APHIS has also referred to GE plants with reduced herbicide sensitivity as herbicide tolerant. However, the phenotype would fall under the Weed Science Society of America (WSSA) definition of "herbicide resistance" since MON 87419 maize has an "inherited ability to survive and reproduce following exposure to a dose of herbicide normally lethal to the wild type". By the WSSA (1998) definition, "resistance (to an herbicide) may be naturally occurring or induced by such techniques as genetic engineering or selection of variants produced by tissue culture or mutagenesis." Herbicide tolerance, by the WSSA definition, only applies to plant species with an "inherent ability to survive and reproduce after herbicide treatment. This implies that there was no selection or genetic manipulation to make the plant tolerant; it is naturally tolerant."

² Plant Protection Act in 7 USC 7702 § 403(14) defines plant pest as: "Plant Pest - The term "plant pest" means any living stage of any of the following that can directly or indirectly injure, cause damage to, or cause disease in any plant or plant product: (A) A protozoan. (B) A nonhuman animal. (C) A parasitic plant. (D) A bacterium. (E) A fungus. (F) A virus or viroid. (G) An infectious agent or other pathogen. (H) Any article similar to or allied with any of the articles specified in the preceding subparagraphs."

³ Limited exclusions or exemptions apply for certain engineered microorganisms and for interstate movement of some organisms, as in 7 CFR 340.1 and 340.2.(b).

Monsanto 2015a). Portions of the inserted genetic material were derived from plant pest organisms listed in 7 CFR 340.2 (i.e., coding sequence from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes*, promoter sequence from peanut chlorotic streak caulimovirus and T-DNA border sequences from *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*) (Table IV-1, pp. 49-50, Monsanto 2015a). Therefore, MON 87419 maize is considered a regulated article under APHIS regulations at 7 CFR part 340. Monsanto has conducted field releases of MON 87419 maize as a regulated article under APHIS authorizations since 2011 (Appendix A, pp. 189-191, Monsanto 2015a), in part, to gather information to support that MON 87419 maize is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk.

Potential impacts in this plant pest risk assessment are those that pertain to plant pest risk associated with MON 87419 maize and its progeny and their use in the absence of confinement relative to the unmodified recipient line and/or other appropriate comparators. APHIS utilizes data and information submitted by the applicant, in addition to current literature, to determine if MON 87419 maize is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk. APHIS regulations in 7 CFR 340.6(c) specify the information needed for consideration in a petition for nonregulated status. APHIS will assess information submitted by the applicant about MON 87419 maize related to: plant pest risk characteristics; expression of the gene product, new enzymes, or changes to plant metabolism; disease and pest susceptibilities and indirect plant pest effects on other agricultural products; effects of the regulated article on nontarget organisms; weediness of the regulated article; impact on the weediness of any other plant with which it can interbreed; changes to agricultural or cultivation practices that may impact diseases and pests of plants; and transfer of genetic information to organisms with which it cannot interbreed.

APHIS may also consider information relevant to reviews conducted by other agencies that are part of the 'Coordinated Framework for the Regulation of Biotechnology' (51 FR 23302 1986; 57 FR 22984 1992). Under the Coordinated Framework, the oversight of biotechnology-derived plants rests with APHIS, the Office of Pesticide Programs of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Depending on its characteristics, certain biotechnology-derived products are subjected to review by one or more of these agencies.

Under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) (7 USC 136 et seq.), EPA regulates the distribution, sale, use and testing of pesticidal substances produced in plants and microbes, including those pesticides produced by an organism through techniques of modern biotechnology. EPA also sets tolerance limits for residues of pesticides on and in food and animal feed, or establishes an exemption from the requirement for a tolerance, under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA) (21 USC 301 et seq.). Prior to registration for a new use for a new or previously registered pesticide, EPA must determine through testing that the pesticide does not cause unreasonable adverse effects on humans, the environment, and nontarget species when used in accordance with label instructions. EPA must also approve the language used on the pesticide label in accordance with Data Requirements for Pesticides (40 CFR part 158). Other applicable EPA regulations include Pesticide Registration and Classification Procedures (40 CFR part 152) and Experimental Use Permits (40 CFR part 172).

Dicamba was first registered in 1967 and glufosinate in 1989 for use as pesticides (herbicides) in the United States (US-EPA 2009; BASF 2010; Bayer CropScience 2014; US-EPA 2015). Dicamba and glufosinate herbicides are currently approved for preplant and postemergence labeled uses on maize. Glufosinate use on MON 87419 will not change from current labeled uses of glufosinate. However, the postemergence use of dicamba is currently limited in maize due to the plant's sensitivity to the herbicide (BASF 2010; Cao et al. 2011; Table VIII-4, pp. 139-141, Monsanto 2015a). To allow for more effective use rates of dicamba on maize for control of problem weed species, Monsanto will submit an application to amend EPA Registration Number 524-582 to register a new use pattern for dicamba on MON 87419 which would allow an increase in the maximum use rate of dicamba in maize from 0.5 lbs. to 1.0 lbs. a.e. per acre for preemergence applications and up to two applications of 0.5 lbs. a.e. of dicamba per acre for postemergence applications through the V8 growth stage or maize height of 30 inches, whichever comes first. Monsanto states the combined maximum annual application rate of dicamba on MON 87419 would be 2.0 lbs. a.e. dicamba per acre per year (p. 29, Monsanto 2015a). Monsanto will also request that EPA amend 40 CFR part 180 to revise tolerances for residues of dicamba and its relevant metabolites in or on maize. EPA's assessment will analyze risks to nontarget organisms to determine if the label is sufficient to meet EPA's standards for registration: "reasonable certainty of no harm to humans" and "no unreasonable adverse effects on the environment." If these standards are not met, EPA will apply appropriate risk mitigation strategies and propose label modifications to address the specific concerns. After EPA has completed its assessments and provided these to APHIS, APHIS will update this PPRA if needed.

The FDA under the FFDCA is responsible for ensuring the safety and proper labeling of all plant-derived foods and feeds, including those developed through modern biotechnology. To help sponsors of foods and feeds derived from genetically engineered crops comply with their obligations, the FDA encourages them to participate in its voluntary early food safety evaluation for new non-pesticidal proteins produced by new plant varieties intended to be used as food (US-FDA 2006) and a more comprehensive voluntary consultation process prior to commercial distribution of food or feed (57 FR 22984 1992). Monsanto has initiated a consultation with the FDA (Biotechnology Notification File [BNF] No. 148) on the food and feed safety and compositional assessment of MON 87419 maize (p. 28, Monsanto 2015a). After the outcome of the consultation has been made available to APHIS, APHIS will update this PPRA if needed. Outcomes of completed consultations are available via the FDA webpage "Biotechnology Consultations on Food from GE Plant Varieties" at

http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/fdcc/?set=Biocon (US-FDA 2015).

B. Development of Dicamba and Glufosinate Herbicide-resistant MON 87419 Maize

Maize (Zea mays ssp. mays), commonly referred to as corn in English-speaking countries, is the most widely cultivated grain crop in the U.S. and the U.S. is by far the world's largest producer (FAOSTAT 2015; USDA-ERS 2015). Maize is primarily grown

for animal feed grain in the U.S, accounting for more than 95% of the total feed grain production in 2014, when over 14 billion bushels were produced on 83 million acres (USDA-NASS 2015b) across almost every state, generating a crop value of \$51.9 billion (USDA-NASS 2015a). To optimize yield and economic return, growers select maize lines adapted to the local environmental and climatic conditions and grow them as annual row crops using appropriate cultivation practices such as seedbed preparation, planting timing and density, and integrated pest management to handle weed and disease pressure (Hoeft et al. 2000; OECD 2003). Crop productivity worldwide varies from year to year and is impacted by losses due to abiotic factors (light, water, temperature and nutrients) and biotic factors (weeds, pests and pathogens). Plant pests can have a considerable influence on yield and productivity of crops; total losses in maize due to biotic factors were estimated for three time periods, from 1964 to 1965 at 34.8%, from 1988 to 1990 at 38.3%, and from 2001 to 2003 at 31.2% (Oerke 2006). Losses in maize productivity due to biotic factors have been reduced through practices that include the increased use of herbicides, pesticides and hybrids resistant to pests and diseases. Global grain production has doubled since the 1960s, and much of the increase in crop yield per unit area has been attributed to efficient control of biotic stress rather than to an increase in yield potential (Oerke 2006).

The presence of weeds in maize fields can cause greater production losses than either insects or diseases (Aref and Pike 1998; Gibson et al. 2005; Oerke 2006). Before the development and widespread use of effective herbicides, cultural practices such as tillage, use of weed-free seed, row spacing and crop rotation were the primary ways to control weeds. Herbicide use began in the 1940s and 1950s, and rapidly accelerated in the 1960s as a series of more selective herbicides were introduced into the market. Since weed communities evolve over time in response to control practices imposed on them, herbicide-resistant weeds began appearing in the early 1970s in conventional cropping systems. Repeated and intensive use of herbicides with the same mechanisms of action can rapidly select for tolerant, difficult-to-control weeds and for herbicide-resistant weeds, especially in the absence of concurrent use of herbicides with different mechanisms of action and/or use of different mechanical or cultural practices for weed control (Vencill et al. 2012).

The commercial introduction of several herbicide-resistant crops in the 1990's, including soybean, cotton and maize resistant to glyphosate, led to significant changes in herbicide usage and tillage practices, resulting in weed biotype and species shifts and the evolution of glyphosate-resistant weeds (Young 2006; NRC 2010). There are currently at least 32 glyphosate-resistant biotypes of weed species known worldwide, with at least 11 reported in maize crops in the U.S.: two *Amaranthus* species (Palmer amaranth and tall waterhemp), two *Ambrosia* species (common and giant ragweed), two *Conyza* species (hairy fleabane and horseweed/marestail), *Echinochloa colona* (junglerice), *Eleusine indica* (goosegrass), *Kochia scoparia* (Kochia), *Lolium perenne ssp. multiflorum* (Italian ryegrass) and *Sorghum halapense* (Johnsongrass) (Table VIII-6, p. 146, Monsanto 2015a); (Heap 2016). For more than a decade, growers have been looking for more options for over-the-top herbicide applications for their no-till maize crops to use in conjunction with cultural and mechanical best management practices to mitigate the

evolution of herbicide-resistant weeds, especially glyphosate-resistant weeds (Service 2007).

Dicamba (3,6-dichloro-2-methoxybenzoic acid) is a selective pre- and post-emergent herbicide used to control more than 95 annual and biennial weed species, and suppress over 100 perennial broadleaf and woody plant species (BASF 2010). It is a synthetic auxin herbicide that acts similar to endogenous auxin (indole-3-acetic acid); low concentrations induce cellular elongation and turgor as well as cellular differentiation and division, while increased concentrations lead to abnormal cell division and growth, and higher concentrations inhibit cell division and growth to the point of plant death (Kelley and Riechers 2007; Bunch et al. 2012; WSSA 2012). Glufosinate (2-amino-4-(hydroxylmethylphosphinyl) butanoic acid) is a broad-spectrum pre- and post-emergence contact herbicide that provides nonselective control of approximately 120 broadleaf and grass weeds (Bayer CropScience 2014). It is a glutamine synthetase inhibitor herbicide that reduces the formation of glutamine and increases the accumulation of ammonia in plant cells, causing cell membrane damage and inhibition of photosynthesis to the point of plant death (OECD 2002a; WSSA 2012). Because dicamba and glufosinate together are effective on broadleaf and grass weeds which are hard-to-control with glyphosate or are glyphosate-resistant, Monsanto intends to stack MON 87419 maize with glyphosateresistant Roundup Ready® Corn 2 utilizing traditional breeding methods and then commercialize GE maize resistant to dicamba, glufosinate, and glyphosate so maize growers will have greater weed control options using any of these modes of herbicide action (pp. 27-28, Monsanto 2015a).

MON 87419 maize was developed from LH244, a high-yielding inbred line of *Zea mays* ssp. *mays* that was genetically engineered to be resistant to dicamba by expressing a mono-oxygenase gene (*dmo*) from *Strenotrophomonas maltophilia* that rapidly demethylates dicamba, rendering it inactive. The same DMO protein is found in MON 87708 soybean and MON 88701 cotton, both of which have been deregulated by USDA-APHIS (USDA-APHIS 2016) and have undergone consultations with the FDA (FDA BNF 125 and BNF 135, respectively, US-FDA 2015). Additionally, MON 87419 maize contains the phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase (*pat*) gene from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* that expresses the PAT protein to confer resistance to the herbicide glufosinate. The PAT protein is produced in numerous deregulated commercial soybean, canola, and corn products, and the safety of PAT proteins present in biotechnology-derived crops has been extensively assessed (US-FDA 2015; USDA-APHIS 2016).

The recipient inbred line LH244 is a medium-season, yellow dent maize line adapted to the central part of the U.S. corn belt in the Midwest. The near isogenic conventional control materials used as comparators in the MON 87419 safety assessments include the recipient line LH244 for molecular characterization studies and the F1 hybrid maize line NL6169 (HCL645× LH244) in compositional analysis studies and in phenotypic, agronomic and environmental interactions assessments (Figure IV-3, p. 52, Monsanto 2015a). Reference hybrids consisting of commercial hybrid maize lines were used where appropriate to establish a range of variability or responses representative of commercial maize in the United States (p. 31, Monsanto 2015a).

C. Description of Inserted Genetic Material, Its Inheritance and Expression, Gene Products, and Changes to Plant Metabolism

To inform the potential hazards resulting from the genetic modification and potential routes of exposure related to the inserted DNA and its expression products, APHIS assessed data and information presented in the petition related to the transformation process; the source of the inserted genetic material and its function in both the donor organism and the GE crop event; and the integrity, stability and mode of inheritance of the inserted genetic material through sexual or asexual reproduction based on the location of the insertion (e.g., nucleus or organelle) and the number of loci inserted.

APHIS also assessed data presented in the petition on whether the genetic modification results in expression of new genes, proteins, or enzymes or changes in plant metabolism or composition in MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional control. The assessment encompasses a consideration of the expressed mono-oxygenase gene (*dmo*) from *Strenotrophomonas maltophilia*, the expressed phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase (*pat*) gene from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes*, and any observed or anticipated effects on plant metabolism including, for example, any relevant changes in levels of metabolites, antinutrients, or nutrients in harvested grain or forage derived from MON 87419 maize compared to those in the conventional controls.

This information is used later in this risk assessment to inform whether there is any potential for plant pest vectors or sequences to cause disease or greater plant pest risks in the GE crop event; or for expression of inserted DNA, new proteins or enzymes, or changes in metabolism to affect plant pests or diseases, nontarget beneficial organisms, weediness, agricultural practices that impact pests or diseases or their management, or plant pest risks through horizontal gene flow.

Description of the genetic modification and inheritance of inserted DNA

MON 87419 was developed using disarmed *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain ABI to transform conventional LH244 immature embryos (Sidorov and Duncan 2009), using the plasmid vector PV-ZMHT507801 (Figure III-1, p. 36, Monsanto 2015a). PV-ZMHT507801 is a two-T-DNA vector, with a Transfer DNA (T-DNA I) sequence containing the *dmo* and *pat* expression cassettes, a second Transfer DNA (T-DNA II) containing the *cp4 epsps* expression cassette which confers resistance to glyphosate, and plasmid backbone sequences necessary for maintenance or selection of the plasmid vector in bacteria but which are not expected to be transferred to the maize embryo (Table III-1, pp. 41-44, Monsanto 2015a).

After incubation with the *Agrobacterium* vector, the immature embryos were placed on selection medium with glyphosate to select for transformed lines and with the antibiotic carbenicillin disodium salt to eliminate *A. tumefaciens*. Monsanto conducted subsequent breeding, segregation, selection and screening to segregate T-DNA I from T-DNA II and generate marker-free plants that did not contain T-DNA II, plasmid backbone and other unintended plasmid sequences (Figure III-2, p. 37, Monsanto 2015a).

The inserted DNA in MON 87419 maize, with both the *dmo* and *pat* gene expression cassettes from T-DNA I for production of DMO and PAT proteins, is described as containing the following genetic elements (Table IV-1, pp. 49-50, Monsanto 2015a):

- Flanking DNA containing 1246 base pairs.
- **B-Right Border Region**: A specific DNA region from *A. tumefaciens* containing the 71 base pair right border sequence used for transfer of the T-DNA (Depicker et al. 1982; Zambryski et al. 1982).
- Intervening sequence: Short 125 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **P-Ubq: Promoter Sequence** of 1644 base pairs from ubiquitin gene (*Ubq*) of *Andropogon gerardii* (big bluestem grass) that directs transcription in plant cells (Joung and Kamo 2006).
- L-*Ubq*: Leader Sequence, 99 base pair 5' UTR, for the ubiquitin gene (*Ubq*) from big bluestem grass that regulates gene expression (Joung and Kamo 2006).
- I-*Ubq*: Intron Sequence, 1042 base pair intron from *Ubq* from big bluestem grass (Joung and Kamo 2006).
- Intervening sequence: Short 5 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **CS**-*pat*: **Coding Sequence**, 552 base pairs, for phosphinothricin Nacetyltransferase (PAT) protein from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* that confers tolerance to glufosinate (Wohlleben et al. 1988; Wehrmann et al. 1996).
- Intervening sequence: Short 8 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **T**-*Ara5*: **Terminator Sequence**, 213 base pair 3' UTR of the RA5B precursor gene from *Oryza sativa* (rice), encoding alpha-amylase/trypsin inhibitor (*Ara5*) that directs polyadenylation of mRNA (Hunt 1994).
- Intervening sequence: 147 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **P-PCISV: Promoter Sequence**, 433 base pairs, for the Full-Length transcript (FLt) of peanut chlorotic streak caulimovirus (PCISV) that directs transcription in plant cells (Maiti and Shepherd 1998).
- Intervening sequence: Short 5 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- L-*Cab*: Leader Sequence and 5' UTR, 61 base pairs, from chlorophyll a/b binding (CAB) protein of *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) (Lamppa et al. 1985).
- Intervening sequence: Short 16 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **I-Ract1: Intron Sequence** and flanking UTR, 480 base pairs, of *act1* gene encoding Actin 1 protein from rice (McElroy et al. 1990).
- Intervening sequence: Short 9 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **TS-***CTP4***: Targeting Sequence** and 5' UTR leader, 216 base pairs, of *ShkG* gene from *Petunia hybrida* encoding the EPSPS transit peptide that directs the protein to the chloroplast (Herrmann 1995; Gasser et al. 1998).
- **CS-***dmo*: **Coding Sequence**, 1023 base pairs, for dicamba mono-oxygenase (DMO) from *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* that confers resistance to the herbicide dicamba (Wang et al. 1997; Herman et al. 2005).
- Intervening sequence: Short 30 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **T**-*Hsp17*: **Terminator Sequence**, 210 base pairs, 3" UTR from heat shock protein gene, *hsp17*, of *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) that directs polyadenylation of mRNA (McElwain and Spiker 1989).

- Intervening sequence: Short 162 base pair segment used in DNA cloning.
- **B-Left Border Region:** A specific DNA region from *A. tumefaciens* containing the 211 base pair left border sequence used for transfer of the T-DNA (Barker et al. 1983).
- Flanking DNA containing 1251 base pairs.

Monsanto confirmed the insertion of the genetic elements listed above by conducting a detailed molecular characterization of the inserted DNA and associated native flanking sequences in MON 87419 compared to the DNA sequence of the recipient maize line LH244 and the plasmid vector. Monsanto used a combination of next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Shendure and Ji 2008; Zhang et al. 2011) and Junction Sequence Analysis (JSA) bioinformatics (Kovalic et al. 2012; DuBose et al. 2013) with directed sequencing (locus-specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis and DNA sequencing) in a multistep approach (Figure IV-1, p. 46, Monsanto 2015a) to determine the number of insertion sites, the presence/absence of plasmid backbone, insert copy number at each insertion site, DNA sequence of each inserted DNA, and sequence of the native locus/adjacent flanking genomic DNA at each insertion site in MON 87419. APHIS reviewed the molecular characterization data and methods provided in Section IV and Appendix B of the petition (Monsanto 2015a):

- The T-DNA inserted into the MON 87419 maize genome is present at a single locus, as demonstrated by the existence of only two junction sequence classes identified in MON 87419 containing partial T-DNA border sequence joined to maize genomic flanking sequence (Table IV-2, p. 54; Figure IV-4, p. 56; Figure B-3, p. 197).
- MON 87419 does not contain any sequence from the plasmid PV-ZMHT507801 backbone or from T-DNA II, as demonstrated by the evidence that none of the millions of 100 base pair sequence reads generated by whole-genome sequence analysis had mapped to plasmid backbone or T-DNA II sequence, while thousands of sequence reads had mapped to the plasmid T-DNA I sequence (Figure IV-2, p. 51; Section IV.A.2.3, p. 55).
- The T-DNA sequence in MON 87419 is 6,762 base pairs and the organization of genetic elements is identical to the corresponding T-DNA I sequence and gene order in the plasmid PV-ZMHT507801, as confirmed by directed DNA sequence analysis of the DNA insert compared to the plasmid sequence (Section IV.B, p. 57; Figure IV-5, p. 58); no DNA rearrangement occurred at the insertion site in MON 87419, although a deletion of 602 base pairs of genomic DNA occurred (Section IV.C, p. 59; Figure IV-6, p. 60);
- The T-DNA sequence inserted into MON 87419 was stably inherited at a single locus across five breeding generations (Section IV.D, p. 61; Table IV-3, p. 62), according to Mendelian principles of inheritance (as determined by chi-square analysis for three segregating generations, Section IV.E, pp. 63-66), consistent with the molecular characterization data that indicate MON 87419 maize contains a single, intact copy of the *dmo* and *pat* expression cassettes that were inserted into the maize genome at a single locus (Section IV.F, p. 67).

Insertion of foreign genetic material tends to induce mutations at sites of insertion (generally referred to as insertional mutations) in recipient genomes (Nacry et al. 1998; Laufs et al. 1999). Monsanto examined the T-DNA insertion site in MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional maize control LH244 using PCR and sequence analyses and discovered that 602 bases of maize genomic DNA were deleted during integration of the T-DNA I (Section IV.C, p. 59, Monsanto 2015a). According to Monsanto, the observed insertion and insertion-deletion mutation (indel mutation) presumably resulted from double-stranded break repair mechanisms in the plant during the *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation process (Salomon and Puchta 1998). As discussed later in this document, none of these mutations altered the function of the *dmo* or *pat* genes or exhibited deleterious phenotypes in MON 87419 maize.

Expression of inserted DNA, changes in gene expression, new proteins or metabolism

Dicamba herbicide resistance in MON 87419 maize is derived from a bacterial oxygenase gene (dmo) from Stenotrophomonas maltophilia isolated from a stormwater retention pond outside a dicamba manufacturing plant (Krueger et al. 1989). S. maltophilia is an aerobic, ubiquitous bacterium that can be found in a variety of environments, including associated with plants used as food or feed (pp. 75-76, Monsanto 2015a). It has been used as a biocontrol agent for fungal plant pathogens, but it is not considered a plant pathogenic bacterium (Berg et al. 1999; ISPP 2016). Originally classified as Pseudomonas maltophilia, S. maltophilia was also grouped in the genus Xanthomonas before eventually becoming the type species of the Stenotrophomonas genus in 1993 (Palleroni and Bradbury 1993). The bacterium can utilize dicamba as a sole carbon source through the action of a multicomponent demethylase system comprised of a reductase, a ferredoxin and an oxygenase (Figure 1, Chakraborty et al. 2005), which work together in a redox system similar to many other oxygenases to degrade aromatic compounds by catalyzing the incorporation of oxygen into organic substrates. In MON 87419 maize, the reductase and ferredoxin are endogenous in the maize chloroplast where they associate with the transgenic DMO to transport electrons from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) to oxygen to catalyze the demethylation of dicamba to form the non-herbicidal metabolites DCSA (3,6-dichlorosalicyclic acid) and formaldehyde (Behrens et al. 2007; Dumitru et al. 2009).

Dicamba has been registered and used as an herbicide for almost 50 years; hence the safety of dicamba and its degradate DCSA as residues in or on commodities labeled for dicamba herbicide use has been evaluated by the EPA (US-EPA 2009; 40 CFR 180.227), prior to the development of genetically engineered dicamba-resistant crops, where DCSA is generated from dicamba through the catalytic activity of the transgenic DMO protein. The structure of DCSA is similar to salicylic acid (2-hydroxybenzoic acid), an endogenous plant benzoic acid (Frear 1976; p. 210, Monsanto 2015a). Endogenous salicylic acid compounds are known to be involved in plant responses to stress, including to pests and pathogens (Vlot et al. 2009; Thaler et al. 2010; An and Mou 2011; Balmer et al. 2013; Kumar et al. 2015; Tzin et al. 2015; Züst and Agrawal 2016). MON 87708 soybean and MON 88701 cotton, both of which contain the same DMO protein as MON 87419 maize, were previously found to have no differences in composition, phenotypic, agronomic or environmental interaction characteristics when treated or not treated with



Figure 1. Demethylation of dicamba (3,6-dichloro-2-methoxybenzoic acid) catalyzed by dicamba mono-oxygenase to form the metabolites 3,6-dichlorosalicylic acid and formaldehyde (Chakraborty et al. 2005; Figure V-1, p. 74, Monsanto 2012a)

dicamba compared to the conventional control (Monsanto 2012a, 2012b; USDA-APHIS 2016). This supports the conclusion that the formation of DCSA does not make dicambaresistant crops any more of a plant pest risk than their conventional counterparts. Nevertheless, the extent to which dicamba herbicide treatment, and hence the formation of DCSA, affects the composition, phenotypic and agronomic characteristics of MON 87419 maize will be examined herein.

Formaldehyde, the other breakdown product of dicamba by MON 87419 maize DMO, is found naturally in plants at levels up to several hundred parts per million (Adrian-Romero et al. 1999), as well as in agricultural commodities (WHO-IPCS 1989). Formaldehyde production in plants has been shown to change in response to abiotic and biotic stresses, although the mechanism and function are unclear (Sardi et al. 1996; Szabó et al. 2003; Szende and Tyihák 2010). The EPA has determined that formaldehyde is not a metabolite of concern for dicamba residue and safety studies because it is not metabolically stable and is quickly incorporated into the one-carbon pool reactions essential to all organisms (US-EPA 1996; Hanson and Roje 2001). In plants, these reactions supply the C1 units needed to synthesize proteins, nucleic acids, pantothenate, and a great variety of methylated molecules (Kalasz 2003). C1 pathways are particularly active in tissues that produce methylated compounds such as lignin, alkaloids, and betaines because the C1 demands for these physiologically and economically important secondary metabolites can dwarf those of primary metabolism. Formaldehyde was not measured in the residue studies when dicamba was applied to MON 87419 maize, MON 87708 soy or MON 88701 cotton; the levels are expected to be small and transient, similar to naturally produced endogenous formaldehyde, even when the maximum proposed labelled rate of dicamba is 100% intercepted and instantaneously metabolized by the transgenic crop (pp. 251-252, Monsanto 2012a; p. 273, Monsanto 2012b; pp. 210-211, Monsanto 2015a).

Glufosinate herbicide resistance in MON 87419 is derived from a bacterial acetyl transferase gene (*pat*) from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* (Wohlleben et al. 1988), a

saprophytic bacterium that is widespread in the environment and is not pathogenic to plants (Kämpfer et al. 2014). A homologous protein is encoded by the *bar* gene of *S. hygroscopicus* (Wehrmann et al. 1996). The PAT protein expressed in MON 87419 is virtually identical to the wild type PAT protein encoded by *S. viridochromogenes* except that post-translational cleavage of its first methionine resulted in the MON 87419 PAT protein containing 182 amino acids in length instead of 183, with an apparent molecular weight of 25.2 kDa. N-terminal methionine cleavage is common and naturally occurs in the vast majority of proteins (Meinnel and Giglione 2008) and is not expected to affect the structure, activity, or specificity of the MON 87419 PAT protein. The MON 87419 PAT protein was found to be expressed throughout the life-cycle and tissues of the plant, including roots and seed, with the highest levels of expression in leaves and forage samples (Table V-2, p. 74, Monsanto 2015a).

PAT is an enzyme that confers herbicide resistance by catalyzing the acetylation of Lphosphinothricin, the active component in glufosinate, to the non-herbicidal compound N-acetyl L-phosphinothricin (OECD 1999, 2002a; p. 70, Monsanto 2015a) PAT proteins are highly specific for L-phosphinothricin. Other L amino acids, including the Lphosphinothricin analogue L-glutamate, are unable to be acetylated by PAT and do not inhibit acetylation of L-phosphinothricin in competition assays (Wehrmann et al. 1996). Therefore, the PAT protein is unlikely to affect the metabolic system of MON 87419. The PAT proteins expressed in glufosinate-resistant maize events previously reviewed and granted nonregulated status by APHIS (USDA-APHIS 2016) and several other countries (OECD 1999, 2002a; ILSI-CERA 2011) have an extensive history of safe use without affecting plant pest or disease risks, nontarget beneficial organisms, weediness, agricultural practices that impact pests or diseases or their management, or plant pest risks through horizontal gene flow. The safety of the PAT protein has been established in the scientific literature (Hérouet et al. 2005).

Compared to glufosinate-resistant crops, dicamba-resistant crops are a relatively new development undergoing regulatory review. The physicochemical characteristics and functional activity of the MON 87419 maize DMO protein that confers resistance to dicamba were determined using a panel of analytical techniques, including: 1) N-terminal amino acid sequence analysis to determine post-translational processing efficiency, 2) western blot analysis to establish identity and immunoreactivity of MON 87419 DMO using an anti-DMO antibody, 3) matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) to generate a tryptic peptide map of the MON 87419 DMO, 4) sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) to establish the apparent molecular weight of MON 87419 DMO, 5) glycosylation status of MON 87419 DMO, and 6) MON 87419 DMO specific activity to demonstrate functional activity (Sections V.A and V.B. pp. 69-72, and Appendix C, pp. 210-230, Monsanto 2015a).

 MON 87419 expresses a single DMO precursor protein that undergoes incomplete post-translational processing after transport to the chloroplast to create two forms of the DMO protein, referred to as MON 87419 DMO +12 and MON 97419 DMO +7. Twelve amino acids are incompletely cleaved from the chloroplast transit peptide coding sequence (*CTP4*) at the N-terminus of the MON 87419 DMO+12. MON 87419 DMO+7 does not contain the first five amino acids of MON 87419 DMO+12. In addition, a leucine was inserted at position 2 of the DMO protein sequence (confirmed by N-terminal sequencing, peptide analysis and western blot analysis by probing with an antibody specific for both forms of the MON 87419 DMO protein; see V.A.1, p. 69 and Appendix C.2.5-2.7, pp. 215-224).

- The difference in molecular weight between the two forms of MON 87419 DMO is small and results in only one single band observable by Coomassie stain of SDS-PAGE and western blot, with an apparent molecular weight of 39.5 kDa (see V.A.1, p. 69 and Appendix C.2.8, pp. 224-226); neither form of MON 87419 is glycosylated (Appendix C.2.9, p. 227-228).
- The specific activity of purified MON 87419 maize DMO (i.e., how much dicamba the naturally expressed DMO+12 and DMO+7 mixture converts to DCSA) was determined to be 232.5 nmoles DCSA/min/mg of MON 87419 DMO, which is higher than the specific activities measured previously for dicamba-resistant soybean (62.21 nmoles DCSA/min/mg of MON 87708 DMO) and dicamba-resistant cotton (5.48 nmoles DCSA/min/mg of MON 88701 DMO) (Table C-4, p. 312, Monsanto 2012a; Table C-5, p. 297, Monsanto 2012b; Table C-5, p. 230, Monsanto 2015a).

Since these studies showed that DMO purified from MON 87419 maize flour contains a mixture of both DMO+12 and DMO+7, and it is known that the active form of DMO necessary to demethylate dicamba and confer resistance to the herbicide is a trimer comprised of three DMO monomers (Chakraborty et al. 2005), the petitioner refers to both forms of the protein (DMO+12 and DMO+7) and all forms of the trimer (DMO+12, DMO+7, or a combination of both) as MON 87419 maize DMO (Section V, p.69, Monsanto 2015a). Except for the amino acids derived from the CTP4 (+7 or +12) and an additional leucine at position two, the MON 87419 DMO protein is virtually identical in sequence to the wild-type DMO protein from the DI-6 strain of S. maltophilia (Herman et al. 2005), as well as to soybean MON 87708 DMO and cotton MON 88701 DMO, which both have similarly small, incompletely cleaved transit peptide sequences at their Ntermini (Figure C-1, p. 213, Monsanto 2015a). The active binding pocket of DMO with dicamba occurs through hydrogen-bonding and steric interactions at locations not involving the N-terminus of DMO (D'Ordine et al. 2009; Dumitru et al. 2009), which supports the petitioner's assertion that the differences in amino acid sequence between the wild-type DMO and both DMO+12 and DMO+7 will not affect the involvement of both forms of MON 87419 DMO in the formation of active trimers.

The petitioner provided data that demonstrated that DMO was expressed throughout MON 87419 maize, that it conferred the dicamba herbicide resistance phenotype, and that it has a high specificity for dicamba as a substrate (Section V.C-V.E, pp. 71-77, and Appendices C and D, pp. 230-250, Monsanto 2015a):

• The MON 87419 DMO protein was found to be expressed throughout the lifecycle and tissues of the plant, including roots and grain, with the highest level of expression in leaves (Table V-1, p. 73). This is expected since expression of the *dmo* gene in MON 87419 is driven by the constitutive PC1SV promoter from peanut chlorotic streak caulimovirus (Maiti and Shepherd 1998).

- In addition to dicamba (formulation Clarity®, BASF 2010), three herbicides with distinct mechanisms-of-action active against conventional maize were applied at the labelled use rate and at least two times the maximum labelled use rate to MON 87419 maize and conventional maize control plants at the V2-VS growth stage. As expected, MON 87419 maize sprayed over-the-top with dicamba exhibited negligible injury whereas the conventional maize control sustained injury. However both MON 87419 and the conventional control sustained similar levels of injury to the other three herbicides, demonstrating that the DMO protein expressed in MON 87419 is highly specific to dicamba and that the other herbicides do not serve as a substrate for MON 87419 DMO.
- The possibility that MON 87419 DMO can metabolize plant endogenous substrates in soybean, cotton and maize that are structurally similar to dicamba was tested *in vitro*. None of the five potential substrates (o-anisic acid, vanillic acid, syringic acid, ferulic acid and sinapic acid; Figure C-6, p. 234) were metabolized by *E. coli*-produced DMO (Figures C-7 to C-12, pp. 237-242).

The petitioner carried out a compositional assessment of grain and forage samples using the principles and analytes outlined in the OECD consensus document for maize composition (OECD 2002b) to assess whether levels of key nutrients, anti-nutrients, and secondary metabolites in MON 87419 maize were equivalent to levels in the conventional control (Section VI, pp. 81-100, and Appendix E, pp. 251-285, Monsanto 2015a). The samples for compositional assessment were collected in the 2013 growing season from five replicated sites chosen to represent the typical maize growing regions of the U.S. In addition to the conventional weed control programs, MON 87419 maize plots were either treated with dicamba and glufosinate at least a week apart between the V2 and V4 growth stage at common agronomic use rates, or not treated with dicamba and glufosinate (Section G.5, p. 294, Monsanto 2015a).

Components analyzed in grain included 49 nutrients (3 proximates, 18 amino acids, 9 fatty acids, carbohydrates by calculation, 3 fiber types, 8 minerals, and 7 vitamins), 2 anti-nutrients, and 2 secondary metabolites. Components analyzed in forage included 3 proximates, carbohydrates by calculation, 2 fiber types, and 2 minerals. In total, 61 components were statistically analyzed for MON 87419 maize treated with dicamba and glufosinate, and the same 61 components were statistically analyzed for MON 87419 maize not treated with dicamba and glufosinate.

Only seven out of 122 statistical tests showed a significant difference (p<0.05) between MON 87419 and the conventional control: manganese in grain in both MON 87419 maize treated and untreated with dicamba and glufosinate; and five amino acids (glycine, histidine, proline, serine, and threonine) in MON 87419 maize not treated with dicamba and glufosinate. However, the mean differences between the comparisons for all seven of these components were less than the range values of the conventional control, indicating that MON 87419 does not impact these components more than natural variation within the conventional control grown at multiple locations. Also, the mean values for these

seven components in MON 87419 were all within the range of values observed in the ILSI Crop Composition Database and the scientific literature for maize (ILSI-CERA 2014; Table VI-8, pp. 98-99, and Table E-9, pp. 280-281, Monsanto 2015a). These results support the overall conclusion that MON 87419 was not a major contributor to variation in levels of key nutrients, anti-nutrients, and secondary metabolites in maize grain and forage, and confirmed the compositional equivalence of MON 87419 to the conventional control, whether treated or untreated with dicamba and glufosinate.

The results of the petitioner's DMO characterization studies support the conclusion that the functional activity, specificity and expression levels of the MON 87419 maize DMO confer the intended phenotype of dicamba resistance to MON 87419 maize. Based on the data presented by the petitioner on the composition of key nutrients, anti-nutrients, and secondary metabolites in maize grain and forage for both dicamba-treated and untreated MON 87419 maize, it is reasonable to conclude that neither the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistance trait nor the dicamba or glufosinate herbicide treatments has a meaningful impact on the composition of seed or forage derived from MON 87419 maize compared to other commercial maize hybrids. Based on all the above noted considerations, APHIS concludes that MON 87419 maize poses no more of a plant pest risk from new gene products, changes to plant metabolism or composition than conventional maize hybrids.

D. Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts

APHIS assessed whether potential plant pest or disease impacts are likely to result from the transformation process, from DNA sequences from plant pests, or from any other expression products, new enzymes, proteins or changes in plant metabolism or composition in MON 87419 maize that are known or anticipated to cause disease symptoms, or to affect plant pests or diseases or plant defense responses (as identified from the previous section). APHIS also assessed whether MON 87419 maize is likely to have significantly increased disease and pest susceptibility based on data and observations from field trials on specific pest and disease damage or incidence and any agronomic data that might relate to such damage. Impacts or changes are assessed to determine if they would (1) affect the new GE crop and/or result in significant introduction or spread of a damaging pest or disease to other plants; (2) result in the introduction, spread, and/or creation of a new disease; and/or (3) result in a significant exacerbation of a pest or disease for which APHIS has a control program. Any increase in pest or disease susceptibility is evaluated with respect to the context of currently cultivated varieties, the ability to manage the pest or disease, and the potential impact on agriculture.

Plant Protection and Quarantine (PPQ) is an APHIS program that safeguards agriculture and natural resources from the entry, establishment, and spread of animal and plant pests and noxious weeds into the U.S. and supports trade and exports of U.S. agricultural products. PPQ responds to many new introductions of plant pests to eradicate, suppress, or contain them through various programs in cooperation with state departments of agriculture and other government agencies. These may be emergency or longer term domestic programs that target a specific pest. A variety of insect, plant disease, mollusk, nematode or weed programs exist (USDA-APHIS 2015).

Currently, PPQ has several active pest management programs that target insect pests and a noxious weed that can affect maize. These include programs for grasshoppers (Order Orthoptera) on rangelands, the light brown apple moth (*Epiphyas postvittana*) in California, and of more relevance, the Japanese beetle (*Popillia japonica*), the Old World bollworm (*Helicoverpa armigera*), and witchweed (*Striga asiatica*) (for more information on each of these programs, see USDA-APHIS 2015). The Japanese beetle can cause significant damage feeding on many plant species; when adults feed on maize silk it affects pollination and kernel formation. A recently established program targets the Old World bollworm. This pest can affect 180 species of plants, with maize listed as one of its preferred hosts. It is closely related to the corn earworm (*H. zeae*). It was first detected in western Puerto Rico in September 2014, and at this time it is not present in the continental United States.

Maize itself is not considered a plant pest in the U.S. (7 CFR 340.2). The plant pest derived vector DNA and the plant pest vector used to insert the DNA do not pose a plant pest risk to MON 87419 maize. The binary plasmid vector PV-ZMHT507801 proved to be disarmed; the T-DNA inserted into MON 87419 maize contained only the intended sequences, along with the typical insertion site mutations, and lacked sequences from Tumor-inducing (Ti) plasmids normally responsible for the formation of crown gall tumors upon *A. tumefaciens* infection (Hoekema et al. 1983; Hellens et al. 2000). The sequences derived from plant pathogens retained in MON 87419 maize (i.e., promoter sequence from peanut chlorotic streak caulimovirus and T-DNA border sequences from *A. tumefaciens*) are non-coding sequences which do not cause plant disease. Furthermore, following transformation, the R0 plant tissue was treated with the antibiotic carbenicillin to eliminate *A. tumefaciens* (Nauerby et al. 1997; p. 34, Monsanto 2015a).

MON 87419 maize was grown within confined field trials in the U.S. from 2011 through 2014 in at least 160 locations across 19 states and territories covering a diverse range of environmental conditions representative of where maize is currently grown and bred, and where MON 87419 is expected to be grown (Appendix A, Table A-1, pp. 190-191, Monsanto 2015a). In addition to the observational data that Monsanto annually reported to USDA-APHIS from these product development trials, which would have included reports of unusual pest and/or disease incidence, Monsanto also assessed phenotypic, agronomic and environmental interaction characteristics for MON 87419 maize compared with the conventional control and commercial reference hybrids in 2013 and 2014 (Section VII and Appendix G, Monsanto 2015a). MON 87419 maize was grown untreated with dicamba and glufosinate for all 30 phenotypic, agronomic and environmental interaction characteristics, which allowed for the assessment of the effect of the inserted *dmo* gene on the potential for enhanced weediness and plant pest and disease impacts. To also allow for the assessment of the effect of the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide treatment, 14 of the 22 characteristics that were evaluated in field settings (i.e., all field-evaluated characteristics except the eight (8) environmental

interactions) were also assessed for MON 87419 maize treated with dicamba and glufosinate.

Out of the 30 phenotypic and agronomic characteristics assessed, 22 characteristics (related to germination, dormancy and emergence of seed; vegetative growth; reproductive growth; and lodging and seed retention) will be discussed in the later section on *Potential for Enhanced Weediness of MON 87419 Maize*. The eight (8) environmental interactions (interactions between the crop plants and their receiving environment, including responses to abiotic stress, general disease damage plus both stalk rot and ear/kernel rot disease damage, general arthropod-related damage plus corn earworm and European corn borer damage, and pest and beneficial arthropod abundance) will be discussed in this section on *Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts*.

Qualitative data on environmental interactions for responses to abiotic stress, general disease damage, stalk rot disease damage, ear/kernel rot disease damage, and general arthropod-related damage were collected in 2013 on MON 87419 maize at eight field sites. Quantitative data on environmental interactions for corn earworm damage, European corn borer damage, and pest and beneficial arthropod abundance were collected in 2013 on MON 87419 maize at three of these eight field sites (Section VII, pp. 101-126, and Appendix G, pp. 293-397, Monsanto 2015a).

- These eight locations provided a diverse range of environmental and agronomic conditions representative of commercial maize production areas in North America (Table VII-3, p. 115; Appendix G.3, p. 293; Table G-3, p. 297). Four commercial reference hybrids were grown concurrently with MON 87419 maize and the conventional control at each site to establish a range of natural variability for the assessed stressors (Table G-1, p. 295).
- The researchers at each field site were expected to be familiar with the growth, production, and evaluation of maize characteristics, and to use well-established qualitative and/or quantitative techniques to observe and evaluate environmental interactions. They chose abiotic stressors, diseases and arthropod pests that were either actively causing injury or were likely to occur in maize during the given observation period. The assessed stressors were present at natural levels, as no artificial infestation or imposed abiotic stress was used.
- For plant responses to abiotic stress, disease damage and arthropod-related damage, at least three abiotic stressors, three diseases and three arthropod pests were evaluated up to four times during the growing season at all 26 sites. The researcher at each field site chose abiotic stressors, diseases, and arthropod pests that were either actively causing plant injury in the study area or were likely to occur in maize during the given observation period. Therefore, the stressors typically varied between observations at a site or among sites (Appendix G.7.1, p. 299).
- Arthropod abundance was measured only at three of the eight sites, which were designed to contain plots suited for the purpose of collecting robust arthropod abundance data (Appendix G.3, p. 293; Appendix G.7.2, p. 300).
- Qualitative data on observations of plant response to abiotic stress, disease damage, and arthropod damage were collected from each plot using a categorical

scale (none, slight, moderate and severe). Qualitative categorical data were not statistically analyzed; they were considered different in susceptibility or tolerance on a particular observation date at a site if the range of injury symptoms to MON 87419 maize did not overlap with the range of injury symptoms to the control across all four replications. Qualitative numerical data for arthropod damage and quantitative data for arthropod abundance underwent statistical analysis ($\alpha = 0.05$) (Table VII-7, p. 121, and Appendix G.9.2, p. 302).

The petitioner provided data that demonstrated that the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistance trait did not alter the assessed environmental interactions of MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional control (Section VII.C.2.2, pp. 119-123; Appendix G.10.3, pp. 304-305; Tables G-9 through G-14, pp. 320-326, Monsanto 2015a).

Abiotic stressors

- No differences were observed between MON 87419 maize and the conventional control for all 93 observations for injury from nine abiotic stressors (cold, drought, flooding, hail, heat, nutrient deficiency, soil compaction, and wind) (Table VII-7, p. 121, and Table G-9, p. 320).
- Disease damage
 - No differences were observed between MON 87419 maize and the conventional control for all 107 observations for disease damage from all 15 categories of diseases evaluated (anthracnose - Colletotrichum graminicola; bacterial blight -Pseudomonas avanea subsp. Avenae; crazy top - Sclerophthora macrospora; ear rot - can be caused by Aspergillus spp., Cladosporium spp., Diplodia spp., Fusarium spp., or several other genera; eyespot - Kabatiella zeae; Fusarium spp.; Goss's bacterial wilt - Clavibacter michiganensis subsp. Nebraskensis; gray leaf spot - Cercospora zeae-maydis; leaf blight (including northern and southern leaf blight) - Exserohilum turcicum and Bipolaris maydis; northern leaf spot Cochiobolus carbonum, Helminthosporium carbonum and other spp.; Pythium spp.; rust (includes common rust) - Puccinia sorghi; smut (includes common smut) - Ustilago spp.; stalk rot - many causal organisms including different bacteria and fungi such as Colletotrichum graminicola, Fusarium spp., Gibberella zeae, Diplodia maydis, etc.; and Stewart's bacterial wilt - Pantoea stewartii) (Table VII-7, p. 121, and Table G-10, p. 321).

Arthropod damage

No differences were observed between MON 87419 maize and the conventional control for all 91 observations for arthropod damage from all 15 categories of arthropods evaluated (aphids (Aphididae); armyworms (Noctuidae); billbugs (*Sphenophorus parvulus*); corn earworms (*Helicoverpa zea*); corn flea beetles (*Chaetocnema pulicaria*): corn rootworm beetles (*Diabrotica* spp.); cutworms (Noctuidae); European corn borers (*Ostrinia nubilalis*): grape colaspis (Chrysomelidae); grasshoppers (*Melanoplus* spp.); Japanese beetles (*Popillia japonica*); sap beetles (Nitidulidae); spider mites (*Tetranychus* spp.); Southwestern corn borers (*Diatraea grandiosella*); stink bugs (Pentatomidae)) (Table VII-7, p. 121, and Table G-11, p. 322).

- No statistically significant differences were detected between MON 87419 and the conventional control for quantitative damage from corn earworm (*Helicoverpa zea*) and European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*) for eight out of nine comparisons at three sites (Table VII-8, p. 123, and Table G-12, p. 323). A single difference was observed where MON 87419 had less damage from corn earworm infestation compared to the conventional control at one site. However, the mean damage rating for MON 87419 was within the range of the commercial reference hybrids at this site and no differences were detected at other sites. Thus, these differences were not indicative of a consistent response associated with the trait and are not considered biologically meaningful in terms of increased plant pest potential of MON 87419 compared to conventional maize. Arthropod abundance (pests and beneficials)
 - Using sticky traps to measure arthropod abundance, no statistically significant differences were detected between MON 87419 and the conventional control for 21 out of 23 comparisons (Table VII-8, p. 123, and Table G-13, pp. 324-325). Pest arthropods caught in the sticky traps were the herbivores corn flea beetles (Chrysomelidae: Coleoptera), corn rootworm beetles (Chrysomelidae: Coleoptera), sap beetles (Nitidulidae: Coleoptera), leafhoppers (Cicadellidae: Hemiptera), planthoppers (Delphacidae: Hemiptera) and spider mites (Tetranychidae: Acari). Beneficial arthropods caught in the sticky traps were the predators ladybird beetles (Coccinellidae: Coleoptera), minute pirate bugs (Anthocoridae: Hemiptera), parasitic wasps (Hymenoptera), lacewings (Chrysopidae: Neuroptera), syrphid flies (Syrphidae: Diptera), and spiders (Araneae). Significant differences were detected between MON 87419 and the conventional control for corn rootworm beetles (less abundant on MON 87419) and spiders (more abundant on MON 87419). The mean abundance values of MON 87419 for these arthropods were slightly outside of the respective ranges of the reference hybrids. However, these differences were not consistently detected across sites and/or collection methods (i.e., in visual counts; Table G-14). Thus, these differences were not consistent responses associated with the trait and are not considered biologically meaningful in terms of increased plant pest potential of MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional control maize.
 - Using visual counts to measure arthropod abundance, no statistically significant differences were detected between MON 87419 and the conventional control for 10 out of 11 comparisons (Table VII-8, p. 123, and Table G-14, p. 326). Pest arthropods visually observed were corn flea beetles, corn rootworm beetles, sap beetles, and shining flower beetles (Phalacridae: Coleoptera). Beneficial arthropods visually observed were ladybird beetles, minute pirate bugs, and spiders. A significant difference was detected between MON 87419 and the conventional control for minute pirate bugs (less abundant on MON 87419). However, the mean abundance value for MON 87419 was within the range of the reference hybrids. Additionally, this difference was not consistently detected across sites or collection methods (i.e., not detected in sticky traps; Table G-13). Thus, this difference was not indicative of a consistent response associated with the trait and is not considered biologically meaningful in terms of increased plant pest potential of MON 87419 compared to conventional maize (Section VII.B.2).

The results of the petitioner's field studies on the assessed environmental interactions between MON 87419 maize and its receiving environment indicate that the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistance trait is not expected to alter the response of MON 87419 to abiotic stress, diseases, or arthropod pests under natural levels of these stressors, nor cause pest arthropods to be more abundant around MON 87419 plots, compared to conventional maize.

In summary, the introduced genes did not significantly alter the observed insect pest infestation and disease occurrence or resulting damage on MON 87419 compared to the control and other reference lines. As discussed earlier, neither the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistance trait nor the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide treatments (including the DCSA and formaldehyde metabolites produced as a result) significantly altered MON 87419 grain or forage composition that would render MON 87419 more susceptible to pests and diseases compared to the control and other reference lines. As presented later in this document, neither the dicamba and glufosinate herbicideresistance trait nor the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide treatments (including the DCSA and formaldehyde metabolites produced as a result) significantly altered the observed agronomic and phenotypic traits and did not reveal any significant changes that would indirectly indicate that MON 87419 is or could be more susceptible to pests and diseases compared to the control or reference lines. Thus, MON 87419 is unlikely to be more susceptible to plant pathogens and insect pests than conventional maize and existing commercial hybrids, and it is unlikely to differ from conventional maize in its ability to harbor or transmit plant pathogens or pests and cause indirect plant pest effects on other agricultural products.

E. Potential Impacts on Nontarget Organisms Beneficial to Agriculture

MON 87419 maize is not engineered for pest resistance, thus there are no 'target' species, and thus no 'nontarget' species either. APHIS assessed whether exposure or consumption of MON 87419 maize would have a direct or indirect adverse impact on species beneficial to agriculture. Organisms considered were representatives of the species associated with production of the regulated crop in the agricultural environment. The assessment includes an analysis of data and information on MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional control and other comparators used as a reference range for 1) any biologically relevant changes in the phenotype or substances produced (e.g., the MON 87419 DMO and PAT, nutrients, antinutrients, metabolites, etc.) that may be novel or expressed at significantly altered amounts and are associated with impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture, and/or 2) any observations of beneficial organisms associated with the plants.

APHIS reviewed information Monsanto provided justifying the safety of MON 87419 maize (Sections V.D-V.F, pp. 75-80, Monsanto 2015a), as well as additional literature:

- The same DMO protein is found in MON 87708 soybean and MON 88701 ٠ cotton, both of which have been deregulated by USDA-APHIS (USDA-APHIS 2016) and have undergone consultations with the FDA (FDA BNF 125 and BNF 135, respectively)(US-FDA 2015). The donor organism for the *dmo* gene, S. *maltophilia*, is currently being reviewed as part of a safety and nutritional assessment of MON 87419 maize that Monsanto submitted to the FDA (BNF No. 148). S. maltophilia is an aerobic, ubiquitous, environmental, gram-negative bacterium, and although its close genetic relatives are plant pathogens, it is not classified as such. APHIS examined a recent review of S. maltophilia by Brooke (2012) that indicates that it has been isolated from soil, water, animals, invertebrates, plant matter including food, and hospital equipment, and can cause infections in humans, particularly immunocompromised and debilitated individuals; but there is no indication that the *dmo* from *S. maltophilia* plays a role in pathogenicity, virulence, antibiotic resistance, adhesion or other interactions with human, animals or invertebrates.
- The DMO enzyme present in MON 87419 maize shares sequence identity and many catalytic and domain structural similarities with a wide variety of oxygenases found in numerous species of microorganisms widely distributed and prevalent in the environment (Chakraborty et al. 2012). This includes oxygenases such as pheophorbide A oxygenase also found in plants such as rice, maize, canola and pea (Rodoni et al. 1997; Yang et al. 2004) that are consumed in a variety of food and feed sources which have a history of safe human consumption, establishing that plants, animals and humans are extensively exposed to these types of enzymes (Section V.E.1.1.2, p. 76).
- Bioinformatics analyses presented to US-FDA demonstrated that MON 87419 maize DMO does not share amino acid sequence similarities with known allergens, gliadins, glutenins or protein toxins which could have adverse effects to human or animal health (Section V.D, p. 75, and Section V.E.1.2, p. 77, US-FDA 2015; Monsanto 2015a).
- MON 87419 maize DMO is readily digestible in simulated gastric and intestinal fluids, according to Monsanto's submissions to US-FDA, making it highly unlikely that it would be absorbed in the small intestine and have any adverse effects on human or animal health (Section V.E.1.3, p. 77).
- An acute oral toxicity study previously conducted with DMO protein in MON 88701 cotton indicated no adverse effects in mice at the highest dose tested (283 mg/kg body weight), and by extrapolation using the Margin of Error approach, no meaningful risk to human or animal health from dietary exposure to MON 87419 maize DMO (Section V.E.1.4-5, p. 77).

As indicated earlier in this plant pest risk assessment, the petitioner's characterization of MON 87419 maize showed nutrient and anti-nutrient levels in grain and forage were comparable to the conventional control, and that the MON 87419 maize DMO protein makes up no more than approximately 0.00016% of the total protein in the grain that could be consumed, so there is unlikely to be nontarget effects resulting from changes in composition or from consumption of MON 87419 DMO. Also the study on

environmental interactions found that there were no changes in beneficial arthropod abundance in field plots of MON 87419 maize.

Honeybees were not among the arthropods sampled in the beneficial arthropod study and are not essential for maize pollination, with natural outcrossing rates in cultivated maize due predominantly to wind (Table IX-1, p. 166, Monsanto 2015a). Monsanto examined MON 87419 maize pollen and found there was no difference in pollen viability, size or visual morphology due to the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistance trait (Section VII.C.3, pp.124-125). MON 87419 maize DMO is targeted to the chloroplast and is not expected to be found in nectar or pollen. Maize produces generous amounts of pollen that is visited by bees if there is no better forage available. Since the DMO protein has no known toxicity and is present at low levels in maize seed, no adverse effect on honeybees would be expected from such consumption.

As discussed in the previous section on *Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts*, Monsanto found that four beneficial arthropods (ladybird beetles, parasitic wasps, lacewings, syrphid flies, and spiders) were no more abundant on MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional control. Two beneficial arthropods had different abundances on MON 87419 compared to the control - spiders in greater amounts and minute pirate bugs in lesser amounts, but the differences were not consistently detected across collection methods (i.e., sticky traps and visual counts) and thus were not indicative of consistent responses associated with the trait and not considered biologically meaningful in terms of increased plant pest potential of MON 87419 compared to conventional maize.

Therefore, based on the above analysis of Monsanto's studies on MON 87419 maize food and feed safety, nutrient and anti-nutrient composition, levels of DMO in tissues, environmental interactions with beneficial arthropods, and pollen characteristics, APHIS concludes exposure to and/or consumption of MON 87419 maize are unlikely to have any adverse impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture.

F. Potential for Enhanced Weediness of MON 87419 Maize

APHIS assessed whether MON 87419 maize is likely to become more weedy (i.e., more prevalent, competitive, damaging or difficult-to-control in situations where it is not wanted) than the nontransgenic progenitor from which it was derived, or other lines and hybrids of the crop currently under cultivation. The assessment considers the basic biology of the crop, the situations in which crop volunteers or feral populations are considered weeds, and an evaluation of MON 87419 maize compared to its progenitor maize or commercial reference hybrids evaluated under field conditions characteristic for the regions of the U.S. where maize is grown (and/or evaluated under laboratory or greenhouse conditions) for characteristics related to establishment, competiveness, reproduction, survival, persistence and/or spread that could influence weediness and the ability to manage the crop as a weed. For maize, such characteristics include, in particular, viable hard seed (dormant seed) and pre-harvest seed loss characteristics, stalk

and root lodging, and ear drop. The assessment also considers whether the engineered trait affects methods of control for the crop in situations where it is managed as a weed or volunteer in subsequent crops or in feral populations.

In the U.S., maize is not listed as a weed in the major weed references (Crockett 1977; Holm et al. 1979; Holm et al. 1997), nor is it designated as a noxious weed by the federal government (USDA-APHIS 2010), although it has been mentioned as an agricultural weed, arguably as volunteer plants, by the Southern Weed Science Society (USDA-NRCS 2016). Maize does not possess any of the attributes commonly associated with weeds (Baker 1965) such as long persistence of seed in the soil, the ability to disperse, invade, and become a dominant species in new or diverse landscapes, or the ability to compete well with native vegetation. Maize is unable to establish outside agriculture, as evidenced by the lack of reports of such behavior despite being one of the most widely cultivated grains in the world, and by data from controlled experiments where maize plantings left unharvested resulted in no feral plants within a year or two after planting (Monsanto 2009; Raybould et al. 2012; Sammons et al. 2014). Maize seeds are retained on the cob covered in a husk and are poorly dispersed, have no innate dormancy and are susceptible to low temperatures, although some seeds may overwinter and germinate when weather conditions allow; however germinating seedlings and plants are sensitive to cold and do not survive freezing winter conditions (Hoeft et al. 2000; OECD 2003; OGTR 2008; Andersson and de Vicente 2010). Although maize seed does not shatter, kernels are often scattered by harvest equipment or foraging wildlife, and some may survive to create volunteer plants the following year. Similar to conventional maize volunteers, herbicide-resistant maize volunteers can be managed by optimizing mechanical cultivation, crop rotation, and the careful selection of the modes of action for pre-emergent and post-emergent herbicides to balance competing herbicide sensitivities between volunteers and the rotational crop (Vencill et al. 2012).

To test the expectation that MON 87419 maize has not obtained characteristics that would increase its weediness, Monsanto conducted a combination of replicated laboratory, greenhouse and multi-site field experiments in 2013 and 2014, similar to the design of the compositional assessments previously discussed, which compared MON 87419 with the control to evaluate agronomic and phenotypic characteristics that may impact weediness (e.g., viable hard seed as an indication of seed dormancy, vegetative vigor as an indication of competitiveness, lodging and seed retention as indications of the potential for seed to occur on the soil following harvest and potentially volunteer in the subsequent crop) (Table VII-1, pp. 103-105, Monsanto 2015a). Multiple commercial reference hybrids were included in the assessment of weediness characteristics to provide a range of comparative values that are representative of existing commercial maize hybrids.

For seed germination and dormancy characteristics, the seed lots for 100 selfed F_2 grain from MON 87419 maize, the control, and eight reference hybrids were produced in replicated field trials during 2013 in Arkansas, Nebraska and Pennsylvania, which represent environmentally relevant conditions for maize production. The seed germination and dormancy characteristics analyzed included percent germinated, percent viable hard seed, percent dead, and percent viable firm swollen seed. In addition to the Association of Official Seed Analysts recommended temperature range of 20/30°C (AOSA 2013), the seed was tested at six additional temperature regimes to assess seed germination properties, following the methods presented in Appendix F (pp. 286-292, Monsanto 2015a). The data were pooled among the three seed production sites in a combined site analysis (AOSA 2013; Table VII-2, p. 111, Monsanto 2015a):

- There were no viable hard seed detected at any germination temperature either for MON 87419 or the control.
- There were no biologically meaningful significant differences detected ($\alpha = 0.05$) between MON 87419 maize and the control for percent germinated, percent dead, and percent viable form swollen at any of the seven temperature regimes. No differences were outside the range of the eight commercial reference hybrids; all were small in magnitude.
- Germination rates were high for both MON 87419 and the control.

The presence of a hard seed coat is a characteristic that contributes to dormancy, and seed dormancy is an important characteristic often associated with plants considered to be weeds (Anderson 1996). MON 87419 maize seed as well as control seed exhibited no hard viable seeds and had high rates of germination under optimal conditions, which aligns with maize's long history of cultivation with no reports of seed dormancy or weediness.

Monsanto assessed 14 phenotypic and agronomic characteristics in 2013 across eight field sites with four replications to determine if MON 87419 maize was likely to be more weedy than the control, following the methods presented in Section V.II and Appendix G (pp. 101-126 and pp. 293-327, Monsanto 2015a). The same 14 characteristics were similarly assessed in 2013 and 2014 on dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-treated MON 87419 maize compared to the control, to assess MON 87419 under conditions of the intended agronomic use of the product.

- In the combined-site analyses, no statistically significant differences (α =0.05) were detected between MON 87419 maize and the control or between dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-treated MON 87419 and the control for any of the 13 quantitatively assessed characteristics: early stand count, days to 50% pollen shed, days to 50% silking, stay green rating, ear height, plant height, dropped ears, stalk lodged plants, root lodged plants, final stand count, grain moisture, test weight, and yield (Tables VII-5 and VII-6, pp. 117-118).
- In the individual site analyses, a small number of comparisons (five out of 87 between MON 87419 and the control, and eight out of 97 between dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-treated MON 87419 and the control) were statistically significant, but none of these differences were detected in the combined-site analysis. Thus, none indicate consistent responses associated with the GE trait and therefore they are unlikely to be biologically meaningful (Tables G-7 and G-8, pp. 310-319).
- Plant vigor data were summarized as ranges within individual sites. MON 87419 and the control were considered different if the range of vigor values did not overlap across all four replications. There were no differences observed in plant

vigor at any site between MON 87419 maize compared to the control (Table G-7, p. 310) or between dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-treated MON 87419 maize compared to the control (Table G-8, p. 315).

The data show that neither the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistance trait nor the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide treatment (including the DCSA and formaldehyde metabolites produced as a result) altered the weediness potential of MON 87419 maize compared to the conventional control based on the assessed phenotypic and agronomic traits.

APHIS evaluated information provided in the petition regarding dicamba and glufosinate herbicide use in the U.S. and control of volunteers of MON 87419 maize in rotational crops. Resistance of MON 87419 maize volunteers to dicamba and glufosinate would increase its survival compared to its conventional control in situations where it is treated with dicamba or glufosinate, e.g., in subsequent rotation with dicamba and or glufosinateresistant maize or in fallow land or another crop such as soybean with a labeled application of dicamba. In crops that are normally treated with dicamba to control broadleaf weeds, should volunteers of MON 87419 maize appear, they could be controlled with other effective herbicides. Since Monsanto intends to commercialize MON 87419 maize as a stack with glyphosate-resistant Roundup Ready® Corn 2, glyphosate would also not be an effective herbicide for volunteer control. The petitioner proposed several labeled selective postemergence herbicides for the effective control of volunteer maize, including Assure II® (quizalofop), Fusilade® DX (fluazifop), Fusion® (fluazifop + fenoxaprop), Poast® (sethoxydim), and Select® 2EC (clethodim) (pp. 155-156, Monsanto 2015a). These herbicides are labeled for use in 12 vegetable rotation crops and 10 field crops that include soybean, hay (from grasses and alfalfa), and cotton. U.S. maize acreage is most frequently rotated the following year to soybean (57.1%), maize (29.7%), wheat (4.7%), cotton (2.0%), and alfalfa (1.4%), with other minor crops making up less than one percent of the estimated rotated acreage (p. 153, Monsanto 2015a). Pre-plant tillage and in-crop cultivation are also available to control volunteer maize. Controlling volunteer MON 87419 maize will be more challenging in replant maize fields than in typical rotational crops, mostly due to limited herbicide choices, but also due to reluctance to convert from no-till cropping to mechanical cultivation (Marquardt et al. 2012; PennState 2013). Maize to maize rotations increase the importance of early fall tillage to stimulate germination and emergence prior to winter to reduce emergence the following spring, and of later planting of the rotational crop to allow as much of the corn volunteers to germinate prior to the final pre-plant control measures (Monsanto 2010).

Based on the agronomic field data and literature survey concerning weediness potential of the crop, the dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistant MON 87419 maize is unlikely to persist as a troublesome weed or to have an impact on current weed management practices. Furthermore, extensive post-harvest monitoring of confined field trials from 2011 through 2014 in at least 160 locations across 19 states and territories covering a diverse range of environmental conditions representative of where maize is currently grown (Appendix A, Table A-1, pp. 190-191, Monsanto 2015a) did not reveal any differences in survivability or persistence relative to other hybrids of the same crop

currently being grown. These data suggest that MON 87419 is no more likely to become a weed than conventional hybrids of the crop. MON 87419 volunteers can be managed using a variety of currently available methods and alternative herbicides.

G. Potential Impacts on the Weediness of Any Other Plants with which MON 87419 Maize Can Interbreed

Gene flow is a natural biological process with significant evolutionary importance. A number of angiosperm taxa are believed to be derived from hybridization or introgression between closely related taxa (Grant 1981; Rieseberg and Wendel 1993; Soltis et al. 1993; Grant 1994; Hegde et al. 2006) and even in the existing floras, the occurrence of hybridization or introgression is reported to be widespread (Stace 1987; Rieseberg and Wendel 1993; Rieseberg 1997; Preston et al. 2002). It has been a common practice by plant breeders to artificially introgress traits from wild relatives into crop plants to develop new cultivars (Khoury et al. 2013). However, gene flow from crops to wild relatives is also thought of as having a potential to enhance the weediness of wild relatives, as observed in rice, sorghum, sunflower and a few other crops (see Table 1 in Ellstrand et al. (1999). By providing fitness-related traits such as resistance to insects, diseases, herbicides or harsh growing conditions, gene flow from crops to their wild relatives could allow the hybrids to compete better, produce more seeds, and become more abundant (Snow 2002). Besides weediness, other concerns are the loss of herbicide resistance as a tool to protect crops from closely related weeds (Gepts and Papa 2003). This topic is covered in two sections: 1) the potential for gene flow, hybridization and introgression from MON 87419 maize to sexually compatible relatives, including wild, weedy, feral or cultivated species in the United States and its territories, and 2) if so, the risk potential with respect to weediness of those taxa following introgression, based on the phenotypic changes that have been observed in the engineered plants.

Potential for gene flow, hybridization and gene introgression

Cultivated maize (or corn), Zea mays subsp. mays, is a member of the grass family Poaceae. The genus Zea has five species: Z. mays, Z. diploperennis, Z. luxurians, Z. nicaraguensis, and Z. perennis. Zea mays is further divided into four subspecies: mays, huehuetenangensis, mexicana and parviglumis. Z. mays subsp. mays is the only cultivated species of the genus Zea; the other species and subspecies are referred to as teosintes (OGTR 2008). Teosinte is a common name applied to several distinct wild, annual and perennial diploid and tetraploid taxa native to a region extending from Northern Mexico to Western Nicaragua and normally confined to the tropical and subtropical regions of Mexico, Guatemala, and Nicaragua (OGTR 2008; Andersson and de Vicente 2010).

Except for *Z. perennis*, teosintes can be crossed with cultivated maize to produce fertile first generation hybrids (Doebley 1990; OGTR 2008). There are barriers that reduce or prevent gene flow between maize and teosinte. For example, temporal and spatial factors isolate *Z. mays* subsp. *parviglumis* from maize, and there is some genetic incompatibility

between maize and *Z. luxurians* and *Z. mays* subsp *mexicana*. Experimental and molecular data suggests that maize and teosintes can hybridize when grown in close proximity, and hybridization occurs sporadically and at very low rates (Doebley 1990; Baltazar et al. 2005). On the other hand, *Z. mays* subsp *parviglumis* and maize can hybridize readily at higher rates (Ellstrand et al. 2007). Several features of teosinte inflorescences and pollen and the existence of incompatibility systems in teosintes may discourage pollination of teosintes by other taxa (Baltazar et al. 2005). Introgression between maize and teosintes is also limited by the geographical distribution of teosintes which have natural range limited to Mexico and certain parts of Central America.

A search of the Plants Database yielded results showing that *Zea mexicana* (Syn. *Z. mays* subsp *mexicana*) is listed as present in Florida, Alabama and Maryland, having been introduced from Mexico (USDA-NRCS 2015i); *Zea perennis* is listed in Texas and South Carolina (USDA-NRCS 2015f). *Zea diploperennis* and *Zea luxurians* are also listed, but there is no information about their location and status (USDA-NRCS 2015e, a). Experts familiar with the teosinte collections in the United States have been previously consulted and are not aware of the presence of any naturalized or native populations of teosintes currently growing in the United States (USDA-APHIS 2013). Therefore, introgression of MON 87419 maize into teosinte is unlikely in the U.S.

The genus most closely related to *Zea* is *Tripsacum*, a genus with 16 species. Plants in this genus are rhizomatous perennial grasses with geographical distribution extending from northern U.S. to Paraguay in South America. Some species are present as cultivated or wild species in the U.S.; *Tripsacum dactyloides*, *T. floridatum* and *T. laceolatum* occur in the continental U.S. (USDA-NRCS 2015b, h, g) and *T. fasciculatum* and *T. latifolium* occur in Puerto Rico (USDA-NRCS 2015d, c). *Tripsacum* species (2n=18) can be represented by diploid, triploid, tetraploid and higher ploidy levels. All species with the same ploidy levels can be crossed with *Zea* species (2n=20) under experimental lab conditions with difficulty and the hybrid offspring are sterile (Galinat 1988; OGTR 2008; Andersson and de Vicente 2010).

Maize is a predominantly outcrossing plant species via wind pollination. Insect pollination has not been reported. Maize cultivars and landraces are diploid plants (2n=20) that can crossbreed to a large degree. However, some evidence for genetic incompatibility exists within the species (e.g., popcorn x dent and Mexican maize landraces x Chalco teosinte crosses) (Wozniak 2002). There is a difference in floral synchrony between male (tassel) and female (silk) flowers on the same plant; the tassels begin shedding pollen before female flowers are receptive to fertilization. Typically tassels shed pollen for 2-14 days depending on environmental conditions. Because female flower development lags behind that of tassel and anthers with minimum overlap, the rate of self-pollination is only approximately 5% (Sleper and Poehlman 2006). Pollen viability has been variously described as lasting from 10-30 minutes (Coe et al. 1988) to up to 2 hours (Luna et al. 2001). Due to weight and diameter, most pollen grains are deposited within 60 feet of the source plant. Cross pollination between a donor field and receptor field can occur over a 7 day period (Coe et al. 1988; OGTR 2008). However,

adverse consequences of gene flow from MON 87419 maize to wild or weedy related species in the U.S. are highly unlikely.

Gene flow potential of MON 87419 maize was evaluated thoroughly. The introduced dmo and pat genes in MON 87419 maize are not expected to change the ability of the plant to interbreed with other plant species. Furthermore, the APHIS evaluation of data provided by Monsanto of agronomic and phenotypic properties of MON 87419 maize, including those characteristics associated with reproductive biology such as seed germination and dormancy, early stand count, days to 50% pollen shed, days to 50% silking, ear height, plant height, final stand count, grain moisture, test weight, yield and pollen morphology and viability indicated no unintended changes likely to affect the potential for gene flow from MON 87419 maize to sexually compatible species. The potential for gene flow to occur specifically between herbicide-resistant crop varieties and their sexually compatible relatives has been previously addressed (Mallory-Smith and Sanchez Olguin 2010). Gene flow does not differ whether the herbicide resistance trait is introduced via genetic engineering or via conventional breeding techniques, and gene flow has been occurring between non-GE maize and GE maize hybrids. Therefore, the potential for gene flow and introgression of the dicamba and glufosinate herbicideresistant traits from MON 87419 maize to other maize hybrids and its consequences are anticipated to be similar to those as for existing commercial maize hybrids.

Many conditions have been identified that are required for gene flow and introgression to occur between a crop and its wild relatives (Carpenter et al. 2002; Jenczewski et al. 2003; Stewart et al. 2003; Owen 2005), including flowering synchrony, abundance and method of pollen spread, distance of pollen movement, genetic compatibility, and environmental conditions pertinent to cross-pollination, but the foremost condition is the presence of wild relatives within pollen or seed dispersal range from the crop. In the U.S., the lack of sexually compatible wild relatives of *Zea mays* ssp. *mays* precludes the opportunity for gene flow to occur between cultivated maize and its wild relatives. Based on the information presented in the petition and in relevant literature, APHIS has reached the following conclusions: The genetic modification in MON 87419 maize is not expected to increase the potential for gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression to sexually compatible taxa compared to the nontransgenic recipient or other hybrids of the crop commonly grown. Gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression of genes from MON 87419 to other sexually compatible relatives with which it can interbreed is not likely to occur in the U.S. and its territories.

Potential for enhanced weediness of recipients after hybridization and/or introgression

As described earlier, there is no indication that MON 87419 maize possesses a selective advantage that would result in increased weediness either in cultivated or unmanaged fallow fields. In the extremely unlikely event successful hybrids of cultivated maize and wild relatives were to occur in the U.S., the herbicide resistance trait would only provide selective advantage in situations in which the hybrid was in contact with the herbicide (i.e., in an agricultural or fallowed field or field edge). Any herbicide-resistant hybrid-derived populations are likely to be controlled using other available chemical or mechanical means. As discussed in the previous section, *Potential for Enhanced*

Weediness of MON 87419, many grass and/or broad spectrum herbicides that are effective for control of dicamba and glufosinate herbicide-resistant maize as volunteers would likely be effective for control of hybrids formed with other conventional maize or related species (p. 156, Monsanto 2015a).

APHIS concludes, based on the information presented in the petition and in relevant literature, that MON 87419 maize is not expected to increase the weed risk potential of other maize, nor of other species with which it can interbreed in the U.S. or its territories, as other sexually compatible species do not occur there. The genetic modification in MON 87419 maize is not expected to increase the potential for gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression to occur to sexually compatible taxa compared to the nontransgenic recipient or other hybrids of the crop commonly grown. It is highly unlikely that maize plants will be found outside of an agricultural setting. It is also highly unlikely that gene flow and introgression will occur between MON 87419 maize plants and sexually compatible relatives in a natural environment, since sexually compatible relatives do not occur in the U.S. Herbicides and other methods are available to control volunteer dicamba and glufosinate-resistant maize and other maize and *Zea* species with which it might cross.

H. Potential Changes to Agriculture or Cultivation Practices

APHIS assessed whether significant changes to agricultural or cultivation practices from adoption of MON 87419 maize are likely to impact plant diseases or pests or their management, including any APHIS control programs. This includes consideration of any changes in pesticide applications, tillage, irrigation, harvesting, etc., as they relate to plant pests and diseases.

The only agricultural or cultivation practices that are currently employed for maize production that are expected to change if MON 87419 is determined to be no longer subject to the regulatory requirements of 7 CFR part 340 are those related to weed management: in particular, choice of herbicide(s) or herbicide combinations, times of application, and potential crop choices or buffer zones for adjacent lands to avoid spray drift or volatilization to sensitive plants. Although dicamba and glufosinate spray drift and volatilization can potentially injure susceptible crops in proximity to MON 87419 maize, such impacts are not considered plant pest risks, but are assessed by the U.S. EPA as herbicide risks.

The current and proposed uses of dicamba and glufosinate in maize are described in the petition (Section VIII.F-J, pp. 133-158, Monsanto 2015a). Dicamba and glufosinate are currently approved for preplant and postemergence labeled uses on maize. Glufosinate use on MON 87419 will not change from current labeled uses of glufosinate. However, if EPA approves Monsanto's request to amend EPA Registration # 524-582, growers would be able to increase the maximum use rate of dicamba in maize from 0.5 lbs. to 1.0 lbs. a.e. per acre for preemergence applications and up to two applications of 0.5 lbs. a.e. of dicamba per acre for postemergence applications through the V8 growth stage or maize

height of 30 inches, whichever comes first, for a combined maximum annual application rate of 2.0 lbs. a.e. dicamba per acre per year on MON 87419 (p. 29, Monsanto 2015a). Monsanto will also request that EPA amend 40 CFR part 180 to revise tolerances for residues of dicamba and its relevant metabolites in or on maize. Issues related to herbicide drift and volatilization are further addressed in the Environmental Assessment (EA) APHIS prepared for this petition (USDA-APHIS 2016), consistent with its obligations under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)(42 USC 4321-4370h).

Upon integration of MON 87419 maize into the Roundup Ready[®] Corn 2 system, aside from the anticipated label changes requested, Monsanto expects that growers will have the ability to continue to use established maize production practices including crop rotation, tillage systems, labeled herbicides, pest and disease management, row spacing, and planting and harvesting machinery currently being utilized (Section VIII.F.5, p. 151, Monsanto 2015a). The anticipated label changes would facilitate more effective use rates for dicamba, and are expected to provide a more effective tool for improved control of problem grass and broadleaf weed species (including some with resistance to other herbicides such as glyphosate, acetolactase synthase (ALS) and protoporphrinogen oxidase (PPO) chemistries) that can be integrated into weed management programs using no-till or reduced tillage or conventional tillage. Monsanto's anticipated weed management recommendations for MON 87419 maize combined with glyphosateresistant Roundup Ready® Corn 2 also include a pre-emergence (burndown at planting) application of a residual herbicide alone or combined with dicamba in conventional tillage, or a residual herbicide combined with glyphosate or, in addition, dicamba in conservation tillage (Table VIII-7, p. 149, Monsanto 2015a). The impacts of this system for reducing or managing weeds and the evolution of herbicide-resistant weeds are addressed in the EA which APHIS prepared for this petition (USDA-APHIS 2016). Greater weed control could potentially reduce disease and pest pressure in maize if diseases and pests of the weeds also use maize as a host.

Crop rotation practices are not expected to be impacted by the use of dicamba on fields planted to MON 87419 maize. Crop rotation practices in maize were analyzed in the petition (Section VIII.G, pp. 151-154, Monsanto 2015a; and Tables 1 through 6 in Monsanto's supplemental data, Monsanto 2015b). Crops are grown in rotation for many reasons such as to manage weed, insect, and disease pests, reduce soil erosion, and improve soil organic matter, but maize is often grown following soybean because the biologically fixed nitrogen from the legume increases maize yields by about 10-15% in the U.S. corn belt (Singer and Bauer 2009). U.S. maize acreage is most frequently rotated the following year to soybean (57.1%), maize (29.7%), wheat (4.7%), cotton (2.0%), and alfalfa (1.4%), with other minor crops making up less than one percent of the estimated rotated acreage (p. 153, Monsanto 2015a). Dicamba can be absorbed through leaves and roots and translocated, but is considered only moderately persistent in soil, with a halflife of six days for dicamba acid under aerobic soil conditions with formation of the nonpersistent degradate DCSA, and a half-life of 141 days under anaerobic soil conditions (US-EPA 2009). Crop rotation restrictions range from 30 to approximately 180 days, depending on the rate applied, inches of rainfall and the following crop, according to the

Clarity® label (BASF 2010), and these should be adequate for rotation to other crops the spring following harvest of maize.

Changes in agricultural practices related to weed control are unlikely to adversely impact pest and disease management practices in maize and may provide some benefit by providing another tool for in-crop control of broadleaf weeds that may serve as alternative hosts for pests and diseases. As described above (see Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts Impacts), field studies on MON 87419 maize demonstrated that the herbicide resistance traits did not appear to alter the response of MON 87419 to abiotic stress, diseases, or arthropod pests under natural levels of these stressors, nor were pest arthropods more abundant around MON 87419 plots. Agronomic practices used to prepare and maintain each study site were characteristic of those used in each respective geographic region and all maintenance operations were performed uniformly over the entire trial area. Although pest and disease susceptibility data was not presented for MON 87419 stacked with the glyphosate-resistant trait, a recent review indicates that nether the glyphosate resistance trait nor glyphosate use in glyphosate resistant crops increases crop disease (Duke et al. 2012), and there is no evidence that either increase susceptibility to insect pests. Therefore, changes in agricultural practices related to weed control in MON 87419 or MON 87419 stacked with the glyphosate resistance trait are unlikely to adversely impact pest and disease control practices or any other cultivation and management practices in maize.

In conclusion, MON 87419 maize is similar to conventional maize in its agronomic, phenotypic, environmental response and compositional characteristics and has levels of pests and diseases or their damage levels comparable to conventional maize. The only changes in agricultural or cultivation practices that are anticipated with adoption of MON 87419 maize (including the anticipated stack with glyphosate-resistant Roundup Ready® Corn 2) are related to weed management practices. Anticipated changes in herbicide use patterns in MON 87419 maize alone or stacked with glyphosate-resistant Roundup Ready® Corn 2 are unlikely to increase pests or diseases or adversely impact their management, nor will they impact APHIS pest control programs.

I. Potential Impacts from Transfer of Genetic Information to Organisms with which MON 87419 Maize Cannot Interbreed

APHIS examined the potential for the new genetic material inserted into MON 87419 maize to be horizontally transferred to other organisms without sexual reproduction and whether such an event could lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

The horizontal gene transfer between unrelated organisms is one of the most intensively studied fields in the biosciences since 1940, and the issue gained extra attention with the release of transgenic plants into the environment (Dröge et al. 1998). Potential risks from stable horizontal gene transfer (HGT) from genetically engineered organisms to another

organism without reproduction or human intervention have been reviewed (Keese 2008). Mechanisms of HGT include conjugation, transformation and transduction, and other diverse mechanisms of DNA and RNA uptake and recombination and rearrangement, most notably through viruses and mobile genetic elements. HGT has been a major contributor to the spread of antibiotic resistance amongst pathogenic bacteria; emergence of increased virulence in bacteria, eukaryotes and viruses; and, in the long run, to major transitions in evolution (Brown 2003; Keeling and Palmer 2008; Keese 2008).

Potential for horizontal gene transfer to bacteria, fungi, or invertebrates

MON 87419 maize contains protein coding regions derived from the *pat* gene from the bacterium Streptomyces viridochromogenes, the dmo gene from the bacterium Stenotrophomonas maltophilia and the transit peptide from petunia (Petunia hybrida) for chloroplast targeting of the DMO protein in MON 87419 maize. It also contains nonprotein-coding regions from Agrobacterium tumefaciens, grasses (big bluestem, rice, and wheat) and the plant virus peanut chlorotic streak caulimovirus. One example of HGT involves a class of enzymes similar to DMO. Chakraborty et al. (2012) propose that HGT contributed to the distribution of ring-hydroxylating oxygenase (*rho*) genes among prokaryotic phyla (proteobacteria, actinobacteria, cyanobacteria, and archaea), and note that homologues of *rho* genes are found in plants (in strains of *Arabidopsis*, Zea mays, Oryza sativa, Physcomitrella patens and Amaranthus tricolor). Ring-hydroxylating oxygenases (RHO) catalyze the addition of hydroxyl groups to aromatic ring compounds, initiating one of the major pathways for oxidative degradation of both natural and synthetic aromatic compounds in the environment (Peng et al. 2010). Dicamba monooxygenase is a unique type of RHO that initiates the degradation of dicamba by oxygenating the exocyclic methyl group, rather than the more conventional oxygenation of the aromatic ring of the substrate seen in most other RHOs (Dumitru et al. 2009). Chakraborty et al. (2012) suggest that distribution and diversification of *rho* genes can be explained by the mechanisms of gene duplication, transposition events and DNA rearrangements in most cases. In other cases, HGT is assumed to be the primary mechanism where occurrence of the genes was found to be limited to just one or two organisms within phyla (such as *rho* genes in some cyanobacteria, firmicutes and crenarchaeota), since the possibility of being remnants of a partially deleted *rho* operon is ruled out due to the absence of similar genes in any other member of these genera. Although it is widely accepted that HGT has generated novel degradation capabilities and increased metabolic diversity among bacterial communities exposed to an ever-evolving array of polycyclic aromatic compounds, such degradative capabilities are mostly indicative of divergent evolution from a common ancestor, not HGT (Peng et al. 2010).

Horizontal gene transfer and expression of DNA from a plant species to bacterial, fungal or invertebrate species is unlikely to occur based on the following observations. Although there are many opportunities for plants to directly interact with fungi and bacteria (e.g., as commensals, symbionts, parasites, pathogens, decomposers, or in the guts of herbivores) and with invertebrates as plant pests, there are almost no evolutionary examples of HGT from eukaryotes to bacteria or from plants to fungi or invertebrates (Keese 2008). Examples of HGT between eukaryotes and fungi primarily involve gene acquisition or transfer by fungi to or from other distantly related fungi or bacteria (Keeling and Palmer 2008; Keese 2008) and HGT between plants and fungi is extremely rare (Richards et al. 2009). Examples of HGT between plants and invertebrates are also extremely rare, and most examples of HGT in insects involve acquisition of genes from their pathogens or endosymbionts (Keese 2008; Zhu et al. 2011; Acuna et al. 2012).

Horizontal transfer from and expression in bacteria of the foreign DNA inserted into the nuclear genome of the GE plant is unlikely to occur. First, many genomes (or parts thereof) have been sequenced from bacteria that are closely associated with plants including Agrobacterium sp. and Rhizobium sp. (Wood et al. 2001; Kaneko et al. 2002). There is no evidence that these organisms contain genes derived from plants. HGT from plants to bacteria is a very low frequency event, primarily because functional and selective barriers to HGT increase with genetic distance (Keese 2008). Second, in cases where review of sequence data implied that horizontal gene transfer occurred, these events are inferred to occur on an evolutionary time scale on the order of millions of years (Koonin et al. 2001; Brown 2003; EFSA 2009). Third, transgene DNA promoters and coding sequences are optimized for plant expression, not prokaryotic bacterial expression. Thus even if horizontal gene transfer occurred, proteins corresponding to the transgenes are not likely to be produced. Fourth, both the FDA (US-FDA 1998) and the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA 2009) have evaluated horizontal gene transfer from the use of antibiotic resistance marker genes and concluded that the likelihood of transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from plant genomes to microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract of humans or animals, or in the environment, is very rare or remote.

Potential for horizontal gene transfer to viruses

APHIS also considered whether horizontal transfer of DNA from the GE plant to plant viruses was likely to occur and would lead to the creation or selection of plant viruses that are more virulent or have a broader host range. This issue has been considered before by other science review panels and government regulatory bodies (US-EPA 2006; Keese 2008). HGT is not unusual among plant viruses; however this is generally limited to exchange between viruses present in the same host organism in mixed infections, and most commonly involves homologous recombination, relying on sequence similarity at the point of crossover (Keese 2008). HGT from virus sequences engineered into plants has been demonstrated with infecting or challenge viruses, including both DNA viruses (e.g., geminiviruses which replicate in the nucleus) (Frischmuth and Stanley 1998) and RNA viruses (which typically replicate in the cytoplasm); however most have been under conditions that favor recombination to restore a defective virus (Fuchs and Gonsalves 2007; Keese 2008; Thompson and Tepfer 2010). Populations of recombinants between virus transgenes expressed in transgenic plants infected with related viruses are similar to recombinants found in mixed infections of the same viruses in nontransgenic plants, indicating that there was no novel recombination mechanism in the transgenic plants and no increased risk is expected over what is expected from mixed infections (Keese 2008; Turturo et al. 2008). Nonhomologous recombination in HGT among viruses or between virus transgenes and infecting viruses can occur, but frequently results in gene deletions which can result in nonviable viruses (Morroni et al. 2013). Depending on the particular virus and sequences involved, various hot-spots for recombination have been found in both coding and noncoding regions, and strategies implemented in design of transgenes

to avoid recombination have been suggested. No recombinant or undesirable viruses with new properties have been detected for over at least 8-10 years in field tests or during commercial growth of deregulated virus resistant plum, squash, or papaya engineered with genes from viruses that have been deregulated in the U.S. (Fuchs and Gonsalves 2007).

The only virus sequence inserted in MON 87419 maize is the promoter for the peanut chlorotic streak virus (PCSV) involved in regulating gene expression. Maize is considered susceptible to PCSV (Brunt et al. 1996). PCSV belongs to the Caulimovirus family of pararetroviruses, double-stranded DNA viruses in which replication occurs in the cytoplasm via reverse transcription of an RNA intermediate. Caulimoviruses generally have a narrow host range (Hansen and Heslop-Harrison 2004). The only other Caulimovirus that maize is susceptible to is a maize chlorotic mottle caulimovirus (SbCMV) (Brunt et al. 1996). Neither of these viruses are considered widely prevalent in the United States (University of Georgia 2012); therefore exposure of either of these two viruses to the PCSV sequences in MON 87419 maize is expected to be low or unlikely. Moreover, recombination in Caulimoviruses occurs predominantly, if not exclusively, in the cytoplasm by template switching between RNA transcripts during the replication process, although a low level of recombination involving viral DNA may occur in the nucleus (Froissart et al. 2005). Since the Caulimovirus promoter sequences are not transcribed in transgenic plants, there is little or no opportunity for them to recombine with any related Caulimoviruses that may infect maize. Although TEV occurs in the United States and is considered widely prevalent (Froissart et al. 2005), since maize is not susceptible to this virus, it is unlikely that TEV would be exposed to sequences from TEV in MON 87419. Since the TEV sequence in MON 87419 is a 5' non-translated region, even if recombination were to occur with another related potyvirus that infects maize, it is unlikely to encode a peptide. Based on the foregoing, horizontal transfer of DNA from MON 87419 maize to plant viruses is unlikely to occur or is unlikely to lead to the creation or selection of plant viruses that are more virulent or have a broader host range.

Potential for horizontal gene transfer to parasitic plants

Evidence for HGT from plants to other plants is limited to two specific scenarios: (1) exchange of genes between a parasitic plant and its host; and (2) exchange of genes between cells of two plants living in close proximity, such as in a graft junction. In both cases, this type of HGT requires physical contacts between the two plants. Most cases of HGT in plants involve transfer of mitochondrial genomes, which are primarily maternally inherited in plants (Barr et al. 2005), to other mitochondria genomes, and mostly involve parasitic plants and their hosts (Richardson and Palmer 2007). Recently, a comparative genomics analysis implicated HGT for the incorporation of a specific genetic sequence in the parasitic plant purple witchweed (*Striga hermonthica*) from its monocot host plant (Yoshida et al. 2010). According to this study, the incorporation of the specific genetic sequence (with an unknown function) occurred between sorghum and purple witchweed. However, this HGT occurred before speciation of purple witchweed and related cowpea witchweed (*S. gesnerioides*) from their common ancestor. More recent studies demonstrated that in a few parasitic species of the Rafflesiaceae family, out of several

genetic sequences examined, about 2.1% of nuclear (Xi et al. 2012) and 24 –41% of mitochondrial (Xi et al. 2013) gene transcripts appeared to be acquired from their obligate host species. However, all the above-mentioned instances of HGT between parasitic plants and their hosts were reported to be of ancient origins, on an evolutionary time scale spanning thousands to millions of years ago. Furthermore in the GE crop, the DNA sequences were inserted into the nuclear genome, not the mitochondrial genome.

If the GE plant becomes infected by a parasitic plant or is naturally grafted to another plant, there is a very low probability that HGT could result in the other plant acquiring DNA from the GE plant. However, in both scenarios this newly introduced DNA would likely reside in somatic cells, and with little chance of reaching the germ cells, this introduced DNA could not persist in subsequent generations unless the recipient plant reproduced asexually from the affected cells.

Based on the above analysis, APHIS therefore concludes that HGT of the new genetic material inserted into MON 87419 maize to other organisms with which it cannot interbreed is highly unlikely, and is not expected to lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

J. Conclusion

APHIS has reviewed the information submitted in the petition, supporting documents, public comments in response to the Federal Register notice concerning this petition and other relevant information to assess the plant pest risk of MON 87419 maize compared to the unmodified line from which it was derived and other maize reference hybrids. APHIS concludes that MON 87419 maize is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk based on the following findings:

- No plant pest risk was identified from the transformation process or the insertion of new genetic material in MON 87419: the *Agrobacterium* transformation vector was disarmed, transformed material was treated to kill the bacterium, and the plant pest sequences inserted do not cause disease or create an infectious agent.
- No increase in plant pest risk was identified from expression of the inserted genetic material, the new MON 87419 DMO or PAT proteins, or changes in metabolism or composition. The composition of MON 87419 grain and forage were determined to be substantially equivalent to other maize commercially grown and the mode of action and specificity of MON 87419 DMO and PAT raise no plant pest concerns.
- Disease and pest incidence and/or damage were not observed to be significantly increased or atypical in MON 87419 compared to the nontransgenic counterpart in field trials conducted in growing regions representative of where this maize is expected to be grown. The dicamba and glufosinate resistance traits did not significantly alter the response of MON 87419 to diseases or arthropod pests under natural levels of these stressors, and pest arthropods were not more abundant around MON 87419 plots compared to the control line. Observed agronomic traits also did not reveal any significant differences that would indirectly indicate that MON 87419

is more susceptible to pests or diseases. Therefore no plant pest effects are expected on these or other agricultural products and no impacts are expected to APHIS pest control programs.

- Exposure to and/or consumption of MON 87419 maize is unlikely to have any adverse impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture based on APHIS' analysis of studies on MON 87419 maize food and feed safety, nutrient and anti-nutrient composition, levels of DMO and PAT in tissues, environmental interactions with beneficial arthropods, and pollen characteristics.
- MON 87419 maize is unlikely to become more of a weed or volunteer problem than other conventional or commercial maize hybrids based on its observed agronomic characteristics, the low weediness potential of maize and current management practices available to control MON 87419 as a weed. MON 87419 volunteers, although resistant to dicamba and glufosinate, can still be controlled with other currently available weed control methods.
- MON 87419 is not expected to increase the weed risk potential of other maize, and other species with which it can interbreed do not naturally occur in the U.S. or its territories. The genetic modification in MON 87419 maize is not expected to increase its potential for gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression to sexually compatible taxa, nor is it likely to increase their weediness potential in the event that such species were to be introduced. Introgression of the dicamba and glufosinate resistant traits into other maize or related species will likely make them resistant to dicamba and glufosinate herbicides, but other currently available weed control methods could be used for their control.
- Changes to agricultural or cultivation practices (e.g., pesticide applications, tillage, irrigation, harvesting, etc.) from adoption of MON 87419 maize (including the anticipated stack with glyphosate-resistant Roundup Ready® Corn 2) are only related to weed management practices and herbicide use patterns, and these are unlikely to increase pests or diseases or adversely impact their management, nor will they impact APHIS pest control programs.
- Horizontal gene transfer of the new genetic material inserted into MON 87419 maize to other organisms is highly unlikely and is not expected to lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

K. References

- 7 CFR part 340. 2015 Edition. Introduction of Organisms and Products Altered or Produced Through Genetic Engineering Which Are Plant Pests or Which There Is Reason To Believe Are Plant Pests. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title7-vol5/pdf/CFR-2015-title7-vol5-part340.pdf</u>
- 7 USC 136 *et seq.* 2014 Edition. *Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2014-</u>

<u>title7/pdf/USCODE-2014-title7-chap6-subchapII.pdf_or</u> <u>http://www.agriculture.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/FIFRA.pdf</u>

- 7 USC 7701 *et seq.* 2014 Edition. *Plant Protection Act.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2014-title7/pdf/USCODE-2014-title7-chap104.pdf</u>
- 21 USC 301 *et seq.* 2014 Edition. *Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2014-title21/pdf/USCODE-2014-title21-chap9.pdf</u>
- 40 CFR 180.227. 2015 Edition. *Dicamba; tolerances for residues*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-sec180-227.pdf</u>
- 40 CFR part 152. 2015 Edition. *Pesticide Registration and Classification Procedures*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-</u>vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-part152.pdf
- 40 CFR part 158. 2015 Edition. *Data Requirements for Pesticides*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-part158.pdf</u>
- 40 CFR part 172. 2015 Edition. *Experimental Use Permits*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-part172.pdf</u>
- 42 USC 4321-4370h. 2014 Edition. *National Environmental Policy Act*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2014-title42/pdf/USCODE-2014-title42-chap55.pdf</u>
- 51 FR 23302. 1986. *Coordinated Framework for Regulation of Biotechnology*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aphis.usda.gov/brs/fedregister/coordinated_framework.pdf</u>
- 57 FR 22984. 1992. Statement of Policy Foods Derived from New Plant Varieties. Retrieved from <u>http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegulation/GuidanceDocumentsRegulatoryInf</u> <u>ormation/Biotechnology/ucm096095.htm</u>
- Acuna R, Padilla BE, Florez-Ramos CP, Rubio JD, Herrera JC, Benavides P, Lee S-J, Yeats TH, Egan AN, Doyle JJ, and Rose JKC. 2012. Adaptive horizontal transfer of a bacterial gene to an invasive insect pest of coffee. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States 109(11):4197-4202. Retrieved from http://www.pnas.org/content/early/2012/02/17/1121190109.full.pdf+html
- Adrian-Romero M, Blunden G, Carpenter BG, and Tyihak E. 1999. HPLC quantification of formaldehyde, as formaldemethone, in plants and plant-like organisms. Chromatographia 50(3/4):160-166. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02490646#
- An C and Mou Z. 2011. *Salicylic acid and its function in plant immunity*. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 53(6):412-428. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1744-7909.2011.01043.x/full
- Anderson WP. 1996. Weed Ecology. In: *Weed Science Principles and Applications, Third Edition* (St. Paul Minnesota: West Publishing Company), pp. 27-38.
- Andersson MS and de Vicente MC. 2010. Maize, Corn (Zea mays L.). In: Gene Flow between Crops and Their Wild Relatives (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press), pp. 255 - 291.

- AOSA. 2013. Rules for Testing Seeds (Stillwater OK: Association of Official Seed Analysts).
- Aref S and Pike DR. 1998. *Midwest farmers' perceptions of crop pest infestation*. Agronomy Journal 90:819-825.
- Baker HG. 1965. Characteristics and Modes of Origin of Weeds. In: *The Genetics of Colonizing Species* (New York & London: Academic Press), pp. 147-172.
- Balmer D, Papajewski DV, Planchamp C, Glauser G, and Mauch-Mani B. 2013. Induced resistance in maize is based on organ-specific defence responses. The Plant Journal 74(2):213-225. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/tpj.12114/pdf
- Baltazar BM, de Jesus Sanchez-Gonzalez J, de la Cruz-Larios L, and Schoper JB. 2005. *Pollination between maize and teosinte: an important determinant of gene flow in Mexico*. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 110(3):519-526. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15592808</u>
- Barker RF, Idler KB, Thompson DV, and Kemp JD. 1983. Nucleotide sequence of the T-DNA region from the Agrobacterium tumefaciens octopine Ti plasmid pTi15955. Plant Molecular Biology 2(6):335-350. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF01578595#
- Barr CM, Neiman M, and Taylor DR. 2005. Inheritance and recombination of mitochondrial genomes in plants, fungi and animals. New Phytologist 168(1):39-50. Retrieved from <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01492.x/pdf</u>
- BASF. 2010. *CLARITY Herbicide Label*. BASF Corporation. Retrieved from http://agproducts.basf.us/app/cdms?manuf=16&pd=229&ms=2274
- Bayer CropScience. 2014. *LIBERTY Herbicide Label*. Bayer CropScience. Retrieved from <u>http://www.agrian.com/pdfs/Liberty_280_SL_Herbicide_Label1t.pdf</u>
- Behrens MR, Mutlu N, Chakraborty S, Dumitru R, Jiang WZ, LaVallee BJ, Herman PL, Clemente TE, and Weeks DP. 2007. *Dicamba resistance: Enlarging and preserving biotechnology-based weed management strategies*. Science 316:1185-1188. Retrieved from http://www.sciencemag.org/content/316/5828/1185.full
- Berg G, Roskot N, and Smalla K. 1999. Genotypic and Phenotypic Relationships between Clinical and Environmental Isolates of Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 37(11):3594-3600. Retrieved from http://jcm.asm.org/content/37/11/3594.abstract
- Brooke JS. 2012. *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia: an emerging global opportunistic pathogen*. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 25(1):2-41. Retrieved from http://cmr.asm.org/content/25/1/2.full.pdf+html
- Brown JR. 2003. Ancient horizontal gene transfer. Nature Reviews Genetics 4(2):121-132. Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/nrg/journal/v4/n2/full/nrg1000.html
- Brunt AA, Crabtree K, Dallwitz MJ, Gibbs AJ, Watson L, and Zurcher EJ. 1996. *Plant Viruses Online: Descriptions and Lists from the Virus Identification Database Exchange*. Retrieved from http://sdb.im.ac.cn/vide/refs.htm
- Bunch TR, Gervais JA, Buhl K, and Stone D. 2012. Dicamba Technical Fact Sheet. National Pesticide Information Center, Oregon State University Extension Services. 13 pp. Retrieved from <u>http://npic.orst.edu/factsheets/dicamba_tech.pdf</u>

- Cao M, Sato SJ, Behrens M, Jiang WZ, Clemente TE, and Weeks DP. 2011. Genetic Engineering of Maize (Zea mays) for High-Level Tolerance to Treatment with the Herbicide Dicamba. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 59, pp. 5830-5834. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jf104233h</u>
- Carpenter J, Felsot A, Goode T, Hammig M, Onstad D, and Sankula S. 2002. *Comparative Environmental Impacts of Biotechnology-derived and Traditional Soybean, Corn, and Cotton Crops*. Council for Agricultural Science and Technology, Ames, Iowa. 189 pp. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cast-</u> <u>science.org/download.cfm?PublicationID=2895&File=1e3053708a2c63cb0176a2</u> 475557b4c5835eTR
- Chakraborty J, Ghosal D, Dutta A, and Dutta TK. 2012. An insight into the origin and functional evolution of bacterial aromatic ring-hydroxylating oxygenases. Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics 30(1):1-19. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2012.682208
- Chakraborty S, Behrens M, Herman PL, Arendsen AF, Hagen WR, Carlson DL, Wang X-Z, and Weeks DP. 2005. *A three-component dicamba O-demethylase from Pseudomonas maltophilia, strain DI-6: Purification and characterization.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 437(1):20-28. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003986105000883
- Coe EHJ, Neuffer MG, and Hosington DA. 1988. The Genetics of Corn. In: *Corn and Corn Improvement* (Madison, Wisconsin: American Society of Agronomy, Inc, Crop Science of America, Inc, Soil Science of America, Inc), pp. 81-258.
- Crockett LJ. 1977. Wildly Successful Plants: A Handbook of North American Weeds. New York: Macmillan, 268 pp.
- D'Ordine RL, Rydel TJ, Storek MJ, Sturman EJ, Moshiri F, Bartlett RK, Brown GR, Eilers RJ, Dart C, Qi Y, Flasinski S, and Franklin SJ. 2009. *Dicamba monooxygenase: Structural insights into a dynamic Rieske oxygenase that catalyzes an exocyclic monooxygenation*. Journal of Molecular Biology 392(2):481-497. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022283609008626

- Depicker A, Stachel S, Dhaese P, Zambryski P, and Goodman HM. 1982. *Nopaline synthase: Transcript mapping and DNA sequence*. Journal of Molecular and Applied Genetics 1(6):561-573.
- Doebley J. 1990. *Molecular evidence for gene flow among Zea species*. BioScience 40(6):443-448.
- Dröge M, Pühler A, and Selbitschka W. 1998. *Horizontal gene transfer as a biosafety issue: A natural phenomenon of public concern*. Journal of Biotechnology 64(1):75-90. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168165698001059

- DuBose AJ, Lichtenstein ST, Narisu N, Bonnycastle LL, Swift AJ, Chines PS, and Collins FS. 2013. Use of microarray hybrid capture and next-generation sequencing to identify the anatomy of a transgene. Nucleic Acids Research 41(6):e70. Retrieved from http://nar.oxfordjournals.org/content/41/6/e70.abstract
- Duke SO, Lydon J, Koskinen WC, Moorman TB, Chaney RL, and Hammerschmidt R. 2012. *Glyphosate effects on plant mineral nutrition, crop rhizosphere microbiota, and plant disease in glyphosate-resistant crops.* Journal of Agricultural and Food

Chemistry 60(42):10375-97. Retrieved from http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/jf302436u

- Dumitru R, Jiang WZ, Weeks DP, and Wilson MA. 2009. *Crystal structure of dicamba monooxygenase: A Rieske nonheme oxygenase that catalyzes oxidative demethylation*. Journal of Molecular Biology 393(2):498-510. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022283609008614</u>
- EFSA. 2009. Consolidated presentation of the joint Scientific Opinion of the GMO and BIOHAZ Panels on the "Use of Antibiotic Resistance Genes as Marker Genes in Genetically Modified Plants" and the Scientific Opinion of the GMO Panel on "Consequences of the Opinion on the Use of Antibiotic Resistance Genes as Marker Genes in Genetically Modified Plants on Previous EFSA Assessments of Individual GM Plants. The European Food Safety Authority Journal 7(1108):1-107. Retrieved from http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1108
- Ellstrand NC, Prentice HC, and Hancock JF. 1999. *Gene flow and introgression from domesticated plants into their wild relatives*. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 30:539-563. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146%2Fannurev.ecolsys.30.1.539
- Ellstrand NC, Garner LC, Hegde S, Guadagnuolo R, and Blancas L. 2007. *Spontaneous hybridization between maize and teosinte*. Journal of Heredity 98(2):183-187. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17400586</u>
- FAOSTAT. 2015. *Global Maize Production, Average 1993-2013*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Retrieved from http://faostat3.fao.org/browse/Q/QC/E_Last accessed Jan 2016.
- Frear DS. 1976. The Benzoic Acid Herbicides: IV Dicamba and Tricamba. In: *Herbicides: Chemistry, Degradation and Mode-of-Action* (New York: Marcel Dekker), pp. 563-579.
- Frischmuth T and Stanley J. 1998. *Recombination between viral DNA and the transgenic coat protein gene of African cassava mosaic geminivirus*. Journal of General Virology 79(5):1265-1271. Retrieved from http://vir.sgmjournals.org/content/79/5/1265.full.pdf+html
- Froissart R, Roze D, Uzest M, Galibert L, Blanc S, and Michalakis Y. 2005. Recombination every day: Abundant recombination in a virus during a single multi-cellular host infection. PLoS Biology 3(3):e89. Retrieved from http://journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.0030089#pbi o-0030089-g001
- Fuchs M and Gonsalves D. 2007. Safety of virus-resistant transgenic plants two decades after their introduction: Lessons from realistic field risk assessment studies. Annual Review of Phytopathology 45:173-202. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/full/10.1146/annurev.phyto.45.062806.094434 ?url_ver=Z39.88-2003
- Galinat WC. 1988. The Origin of Corn. In: Corn and Corn Improvement (Madison, Wisconsin: American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America), pp. 1-17.
- Gasser CS, Winter JA, Hironaka CM, and Shah DM. 1998. Structure, expression, and evolution of the 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase genes in petunia

and tomato. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 263(9):4280-4289. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jbc.org/content/263/9/4280.full.pdf+html</u>

- Gepts P and Papa R. 2003. *Possible effects of (trans)gene flow from crops on the genetic diversity from landraces and wild relatives*. Environmental Biosafety Research 2(2):89-103. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/ebr:2003009
- Gibson KD, Johnson WG, and Hillger DE. 2005. *Farmer perceptions of problematic corn and soybean weeds in Indiana*. Weed Technology 19(4):1065-1070. Retrieved from http://www.wssajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1614/WT-04-309R.1
- Grant V. 1981. *Plant Speciation, 2nd Edition*. New York: Columbia University Press, 563 pp.
- Grant V. 1994. *Modes and origins of mechanical and ethological isolation in angiosperms*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 91(1):3-10. Retrieved from http://www.pnas.org/content/91/1/3.full.pdf+html
- Hansen C and Heslop-Harrison JS. 2004. Sequences and phylogenies of plant pararetroviruses, viruses, and transposable elements. Advances in Botanical Research 41:165-193. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065229604410040
- Hanson AD and Roje S. 2001. *One-carbon metabolism in higher plants*. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 52:119-137. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/pdf/10.1146/annurev.arplant.52.1.119
- Heap I. 2016. *The International Survey of Herbicide Resistant Weeds*. Retrieved from http://www.weedscience.com Last accessed January 11, 2016.
- Hegde SG, Nason JD, Clegg JM, and Ellstrand NC. 2006. The evolution of California's wild radish has resulted in the extinction of its progenitors. Evolution 60(6):1187-1197. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1554/05-634.1</u>
- Hellens R, Mullineaux P, and Klee H. 2000. *Technical focus: A guide to Agrobacterium binary Ti vectors*. Trends in Plant Science 5(10):446-451. Retrieved from http://plant-tc.cfans.umn.edu/listserv/2002/log0205/pdf00000.pdf
- Herman PL, Behrens M, Chakraborty S, Chrastil BM, Barycki J, and Weeks DP. 2005. A three-component dicamba O-demethylase from Pseudomonas maltophilia, strain DI-6: Gene isolation, characterization, and heterologous expression. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 280(26):24759-24767. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org/content/280/26/24759.full.pdf+html
- Hérouet C, Esdaile DJ, Mallyon BA, Debruyne E, Schulz A, Currier T, Hendrickx K, van der Klis R-J, and Rouan D. 2005. Safety evaluation of the phosphinothricin acetyltransferase proteins encoded by the pat and bar sequences that confer tolerance to glufosinate-ammonium herbicide in transgenic plants. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 41(2):134-149. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0273230004001606
- Herrmann KM. 1995. *The shikimate pathway: Early steps in the biosynthesis of aromatic compounds*. The Plant Cell 7:907-919. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC160886/pdf/070907.pdf
- Hoeft RG, Nafziger ED, Johnson RR, and Aldrich SR. 2000. *Modern Corn and Soybean Production, First Edition.* Champaign, IL: MCSP Publications, 353 pp.
- Hoekema A, Hirsch PR, Hooykaas PJJ, and Schilperoort RA. 1983. A binary plant vector strategy based on separation of vir- and T-region of the Agrobacterium

tumefaciens Ti-plasmid. Nature 303:179-180. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v303/n5913/abs/303179a0.html</u>

- Holm L, Doll J, Holm E, Pancho J, and Herberger J. 1997. *World Weeds: Natural Histories and Distribution*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1152 pp.
- Holm LG, Pancho JV, Herberger JP, and Plucknett DL. 1979. A Geographical Atlas of World Weeds. New York: John Wiley and Sons, reprinted 1991 by Krieger Publishing Company. 391 pp.
- Hunt AG. 1994. *Messenger RNA 3' end formation in plants*. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 45:47-60. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/pdf/10.1146/annurev.pp.45.060194.000403
- ILSI-CERA. 2011. A review of the environmental safety of the PAT protein. Environmental Biosafety Research 10(4):73-101. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/ebr/2012004
- ILSI-CERA. 2014. International Life Sciences Institute Crop Composition Database, Version 5.1. Retrieved from <u>www.cropcomposition.org</u> Last accessed Jan 2016.
- ISPP. 2016. *Names of Plant Pathogenic Bacteria*, 1864 2004. Retrieved from <u>http://www.isppweb.org/names_bacterial_rath2005.asp</u> Last accessed Jan 2016.
- Jenczewski E, Ronfort J, and Chevre A-M. 2003. *Crop-to-wild gene flow, introgression* and possible fitness effects of transgenes. Environmental Biosafety Research 2(1):9-24. Retrieved from <u>http://journals.cambridge.org/10.1051/ebr:2003001</u>
- Joung YH and Kamo K. 2006. *Expression of a polyubiquitin promoter isolated from Gladiolus*. Plant Cell Rep 25(10):1081-1088. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00299-006-0185-7
- Kalasz H. 2003. *Biological role of formaldehyde, and cycles related to methylation, demethylation and formaldehyde production*. Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry 3(3):175-192. Retrieved from http://www.eurekaselect.com/81220/article
- Kämpfer P, Glaeser S, Parkes L, van Keulen G, and Dyson P. 2014. The Family Streptomycetaceae. In: *The Prokaryotes* (Springer Berlin Heidelberg), pp. 889-1010. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-30138-4_184</u>
- Kaneko T, Nakamura Y, Sato S, Minamisawa K, Uchiumi T, Sasamoto S, Watanabe A, Idesawa K, Iriguchi M, Kawashima K, Kohara M, Matsumoto M, Shimpo S, Tsuruoka H, Wada T, Yamada M, and Tabata S. 2002. Complete genomic sequence of nitrogen-fixing symbiotic bacterium Bradyrhizobium japonicum USDA110. DNA Research 9(6):189-197. Retrieved from http://dnaresearch.oxfordjournals.org/content/9/6/189.long
- Keeling PJ and Palmer JD. 2008. *Horizontal gene transfer in eukaryotic evolution*. Nature Reviews Genetics 9(8):605-618. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nature.com/nrg/journal/v9/n8/full/nrg2386.html</u>
- Keese P. 2008. *Risks from GMOs due to horizontal gene transfer*. Environmental Biosafety Research 7(3):123-149. Retrieved from <u>http://journals.cambridge.org/action/displayAbstract?fromPage=online&aid=8208</u> <u>895&fileId=S1635792208000146</u>
- Kelley KB and Riechers DE. 2007. Recent developments in auxin biology and new opportunities for auxinic herbicide research. Pesticide Biochemistry and

Physiology 89(1):1-11. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048357507000545

- Khoury CK, Greene S, Wiersema J, Maxted N, Jarvis A, and Struik PC. 2013. An *inventory of crop wild relatives of the United States*. Crop Science 53(4):1496. Retrieved from <u>https://www.crops.org/publications/cs/abstracts/53/4/1496</u>
- Koonin EV, Makarova KS, and Aravind L. 2001. *Horizontal gene transfer in prokaryotes: Quantification and classification*. Annual Review of Microbiology 55:709-742. Retrieved from <u>http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/full/10.1146/annurev.micro.55.1.709?url_ver=</u> Z39.88-2003
- Kovalic D, Garnaat C, Guo L, Yan Y, Groat J, Silvanovich A, Ralston L, Huang M, Tian Q, Christian A, Cheikh N, Hjelle J, Padgette S, and Bannon G. 2012. The Use of Next Generation Sequencing and Junction Sequence Analysis Bioinformatics to Achieve Molecular Characterization of Crops Improved Through Modern Biotechnology. The Plant Genome 5(3):149-163. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3835/plantgenome2012.10.0026
- Krueger JP, Butz RG, Atallah YH, and Cork DJ. 1989. Isolation and identification of microorganisms for the degradation of Dicamba. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 37(2):534-538. Retrieved from http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/jf00086a057
- Kumar D, Haq I, Chapagai D, Tripathi D, Donald D, Hossain M, and Devaiah S. 2015. Hormone Signaling: Current Perspectives on the Roles of Salicylic Acid and Its Derivatives in Plants. In: *The Formation, Structure and Activity of Phytochemicals* (Springer International Publishing), pp. 115-136. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20397-3_5
- Lamppa GK, Morelli G, and Chua N-H. 1985. *Structure and developmental regulation of a wheat gene encoding the major chlorophyll A/B-Binding polypeptide*. Molecular and Cellular Biology 5(6):1370-1378. Retrieved from <u>http://mcb.asm.org/content/5/6/1370.full.pdf+html</u>
- Laufs P, Autran D, and Traas J. 1999. A chromosomal paracentric inversion associated with T-DNA integration in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal 18(2):131-139. Retrieved from <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00436.x/pdf</u>
- Luna S, Figueroa J, Baltazar BM, Gomez R, Townsend R, and Schoper JB. 2001. *Maize* pollen longevity and distance isolation requirements for effective pollen control. Crop Science 41:1551-1557.
- Maiti IB and Shepherd RJ. 1998. Isolation and expression analysis of peanut chlorotic streak caulimovirus (PCISV) full-length transcript (FLt) promoter in transgenic plants. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 244(2):440-444.
- Mallory-Smith CA and Sanchez Olguin E. 2010. *Gene flow from herbicide-resistant crops: It's not just for transgenes.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 59(11):5813-5818. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jf103389v</u>
- Marquardt PT, Terry R, Krupke CH, and Johnson WG. 2012. Competitive effects of volunteer corn on hybrid corn growth and yield. Weed Science 60(4):537-541. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1614/WS-D-11-00219.1</u>

- McElroy D, Zhang W, Cao J, and Wua R. 1990. *Isolation of an efficient actin rromoter for use in rice transformation*. The Plant Cell 2:163-171. Retrieved from <u>http://www.plantcell.org/content/2/2/163.full.pdf+html</u>
- McElwain EF and Spiker S. 1989. A wheat cDNA clone which is homologous to the 17 kd heat-shock protein gene family of soybean. Nucleic Acids Research 17(4):1764. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC331840/</u>
- Meinnel T and Giglione C. 2008. *Tools for analyzing and predicting N-terminal protein modifications*. Proteomics 8(4):626-649. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200700592

Monsanto. 2009. *Petition for the Determination on Non-Regulated Status for MON* 87460 (Drought Tolerant Corn). Submitted by W. Reeves. Monsanto Company. St. Louis, Missouri. pp. 544. Retrieved from https://www.aphis.usda.gov/brs/aphisdocs/09_05501p.pdf

- Monsanto. 2010. Volunteer Corn Control: Pre-plant, Replant and In-crop. Monsanto Technology Development / 031910EJP. Retrieved from <u>https://www.lewishybrids.com/Agronomy/Documents/TD-</u> <u>Agronomic%20Spotlight%20-%20Volunteer%20Corn%20Control.pdf</u>
- Monsanto Company. 2012a. *Petition for the Determination of Nonregulated Status for Dicamba-Tolerant Soybean MON 87708*. Submitted by R. Mannion. Monsanto Company. St. Louis, Missouri. 721 pp. Retrieved from <u>http://www.aphis.usda.gov/brs/aphisdocs/10_18801p.pdf</u>
- Monsanto Company. 2012b. *Petition for the Determination of Nonregulated Status for Dicamba and Glufosinate-Tolerant Cotton MON 88701*. Submitted by M. Malven. Monsanto Company. St. Louis, Missouri, 620 pp. Retrieved from <u>http://www.aphis.usda.gov/biotechnology/petitions_table_pending.shtml</u>
- Monsanto Company. 2015a. Petition for the Determination of Nonregulated Status for Dicamba and Glufosinate Tolerant MON 87419 Maize. Submitted by M. Groth. Monsanto Company. St. Louis, Missouri. 352 pp. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aphis.usda.gov/brs/aphisdocs/15_11301p.pdf</u>
- Monsanto Company. 2015b. The Petitioner's Supplemental Data for Petition for the Determination of Nonregulated Status for Dicamba and Glufosinate Tolerant MON 87419 Maize. Submitted by M. Groth. Monsanto Company. St. Louis, Missouri. 26 pp. Retrieved from

https://www.aphis.usda.gov/biotechnology/petitions_table_pending.shtml

- Morroni M, Jacquemond M, and Tepfer M. 2013. *Deep sequencing of recombinant virus* populations in transgenic and nontransgenic plants infected with Cucumber mosaic virus. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 26(7):801-811. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-02-13-0057-R
- Nacry P, Camilleri C, Courtial B, Caboche M, and Bouchez D. 1998. *Major chromosomal rearrangements induced by T-DNA transformation in Arabidopsis.* Genetics 149(2):641-650. Retrieved from <u>http://www.genetics.org/content/149/2/641.short</u>
- Nauerby B, Billing K, and Wyndaele R. 1997. *Influence of the antibiotic timentin on* plant regeneration compared to carbenicillin and cefotaxime in concentrations suitable for elimination of Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Plant Science 123(1-

2):169-177. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168945296045694

- NRC. 2010. Environmental Impacts of Genetically Engineered Crops at the Farm Level. In: *The National Research Council: The Impact of Genetically Engineered Crops on Farm Sustainability in the United States* (Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press), pp. 59-134. Retrieved from http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=12804
- OECD. 1999. Consensus Document on General Information Concerning the Genes and their Enzymes that Confer Tolerance to Phosphinothricin Herbicide. ENV/JM/MONO(99)13. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 26 pp. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/biotrack/46815628.pdf
- OECD. 2002a. Module II: Herbicide Biochemistry, Herbicide Metabolism and the Residues in Glufosinate-Ammonium (Phosphinothricin)-Tolerant Transgenic Plants. ENV/JM/MONO(2002)14. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 22 pp. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/biotrack/46815748.pdf
- OECD. 2002b. Consensus Document on Compositional Considerations for New Varieties of Maize (Zea mays): Key Food and Feed Nutrients, Anti-nutrients and Secondary Plant Metabolites. ENV/JM/MONO(2002)25. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 42 pp. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/biotrack/46815196.pdf
- OECD. 2003. Consensus Document on the Biology of Zea mays subsp. mays (Maize). ENV/JM/MONO(2003)11. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 49 pp. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/biotrack/46815758.pdf
- Oerke EC. 2006. *Crop losses to pests*. The Journal of Agricultural Science 144(1):31-43. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0021859605005708
- OGTR. 2008. *The Biology of Zea mays, L. ssp mays (maize or corn)*. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, Office of the Gene Technology Regulator, 80 pp. Retrieved from

http://www.ogtr.gov.au/internet/ogtr/publishing.nsf/Content/biology-documents-1

- Owen MDK. 2005. Maize and Soybeans Controllable Volunteerism Without Ferality? In: *Crop Ferality and Volunteerism* (Boca Raton: CRC Press), pp. 149-165.
- Palleroni NJ and Bradbury JF. 1993. *Stenotrophomonas, a new bacterial genus for Xanthomonas maltophilia (Hugh 1980) Swings et al. 1983.* International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 43(3):606-609. Retrieved from <u>http://ijs.sgmjournals.org/content/43/3/606.full.pdf+html</u>
- Peng R-H, Xiong A-S, Xue Y, Fu X-Y, Gao F, Zhao W, Tian Y-S, and Yao Q-H. 2010. A profile of ring-hydroxylating oxygenases that degrade aromatic pollutants. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 206:65-94. Retrieved from <u>http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4419-6260-7_4</u>
- PennState. 2013. Control of Roundup Ready Corn: Volunteers or Replanting. Penn State College of Agricultural Science. Retrieved from <u>http://extension.psu.edu/plants/crops/news/2013/05/control-of-roundup-readycorn-volunteers-or-replanting</u>

- Preston CD, Pearman DA, and Dines TD. 2002. *New Atlas of the British & Irish Flora*. Oxford University Press, 928 pp.
- Raybould A, Higgins LS, Horak MJ, Layton RJ, Storer NP, De La Fuente JM, and Herman RA. 2012. Assessing the ecological risks from the persistence and spread of feral populations of insect-resistant transgenic maize. Transgenic Research 21(3):655-664. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22002083</u>
- Richards TA, Soanes DM, Foster PG, Leonard G, Thornton CR, and Talbot NJ. 2009. *Phylogenomic analysis demonstrates a pattern of rare and ancient horizontal gene transfer between plants and fungi*. Plant Cell 21(7):1897-1911. Retrieved from http://www.plantcell.org/content/21/7/1897.long
- Richardson AO and Palmer JD. 2007. *Horizontal gene transfer in plants*. Journal of Experimental Botany 58(1):1-9. Retrieved from http://jxb.oxfordjournals.org/content/58/1/1.full.pdf+html
- Rieseberg LH. 1997. *Hybrid origins of plant species*. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28:359-389. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.359
- Rieseberg LH and Wendel JF. 1993. Introgression and Its Consequences in Plants. In: *Hybrid Zones and the Evolutionary Process* (New York: Oxford University Press), pp. 70-109.
- Rodoni S, Muhlecker W, Anderl M, Krautler B, Moser D, Thomas H, Matile P, and Hortensteiner S. 1997. *Chlorophyll breakdown in senescent chloroplasts* (*Cleavage of pheophorbide a in two enzymatic steps*). Plant Physiology 115:669-676. Retrieved from <u>http://www.plantphysiol.org/content/115/2/669.full.pdf+html</u>
- Salomon S and Puchta H. 1998. *Capture of genomic and T-DNA sequences during double-strand break repair in somatic plant cells*. The EMBO Journal 17(20):6086-6095. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1093/emboj/17.20.6086/full
- Sammons B, Whitsel J, Stork LG, Reeves W, and Horak M. 2014. Characterization of Drought-Tolerant Maize MON 87460 for Use in Environmental Risk Assessment. Crop Science 54(2):719-729. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2013.07.0452
- Sardi E, Velich J, and Szarka J. 1996. *The presence of Selye's stress-syndrome in the Snap Bean – Halo Blight relationship*. Reports of Bean Improvement Cooperative and National Dry Bean Council Research Conference Annual Report 39:278-279.
- Service RF. 2007. A growing threat down on the farm. Science 316:1114-1117.
- Shendure J and Ji H. 2008. *Next-generation DNA sequencing*. Nature Biotechnology 26(10):1135-1145. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nbt1486</u>
- Sidorov V and Duncan D. 2009. *Agrobacterium*-Mediated Maize Transformation: Immature Embryos *Versus* Callus. In: *Transgenic Maize* (Humana Press), pp. 47-58. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-494-0_4</u>
- Singer J and Bauer P. 2009. Soil Management Practices: Crop Rotations for Row Crops (Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University). Retrieved from http://soilquality.org/practices/row_crop_rotations.html
- Sleper DA and Poehlman JM. 2006. Breeding Corn (Maize). In: *Breeding Field Crops* (Blackwell Publishing), pp. 277-296.

- Snow AA. 2002. *Transgenic crops why gene flow matters*. Nature Biotechnology 20(6):542. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nbt0602-542</u>
- Soltis DE, Soltis PS, and Rieseberg LH. 1993. *Molecular data and the dynamic nature of polyploidy*. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 12(3):243-273. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07352689309701903#.UhekuRtwq-w
- Stace CA. 1987. Hybridization and the plant species. In: *Differentiation Patterns in Higher Plants* (New York: Academic Press), pp. 115-127.
- Stewart CN, Jr., Halfhill MD, and Warwick SI. 2003. Transgene introgression from genetically modified crops to their wild relatives. Nature Reviews Genetics 4(4):806-817.
- Szabó B, Tyihák E, Szabó LG, and Botz L. 2003. *Mycotoxin and drought stress induced change of alkaloid content of Papaver somniferum plantlets*. Acta Botanica Hungarica 45(3-4):409-417.
- Szende B and Tyihák E. 2010. *Effect of formaldehyde on cell proliferation and death*. Cell Biology International 34(12):1273-1282.
- Thaler JS, Agrawal AA, and Halitschke R. 2010. *Salicylate-mediated interactions between pathogens and herbivores*. Ecology 91(4):1075-1082. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/08-2347.1</u>
- Thompson JR and Tepfer M. 2010. Assessment of the benefits and risks for engineered virus resistance. Advances in Virus Research 76:33-56. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065352710760024
- Turturo C, Friscina A, Gaubert S, Jacquemond M, Thompson JR, and Tepfer M. 2008. Evaluation of potential risks associated with recombination in transgenic plants expressing viral sequences. Journal of General Virology 89:327-335. Retrieved from <u>http://vir.sgmjournals.org/content/89/1/327.full.pdf+html</u>
- Tzin V, Fernandez-Pozo N, Richter A, Schmelz EA, Schoettner M, Schäfer M, Ahern KR, Meihls LN, Kaur H, Huffaker A, Mori N, Degenhardt J, Mueller LA, and Jander G. 2015. Dynamic Maize Responses to Aphid Feeding Are Revealed by a Time Series of Transcriptomic and Metabolomic Assays. Plant Physiology 169(3):1727-1743. Retrieved from

http://www.plantphysiol.org/cgi/doi/10.1104/pp.15.01039

- University of Georgia. 2012. *Widely Prevalent Viruses of the United States*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.prevalentviruses.org/</u>
- US-EPA. 1996. Residue Chemistry Test Guidelines, OPPTS 860.1300 Nature of the Residue - Plants, Livestock. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances, Washington, D.C., 34 pp. Retrieved from <u>http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=EPA-HQ-OPPT-2009-0155-0006</u>
- US-EPA. 2006. *Plant Incorporated Protectants Based on Virus Coat Protein Genes: Science Issues Associated with the Proposed Rule.* United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides, and Toxic Substances, FIFRA Scientific Advisory Panel. 67 pp. Retrieved from http://www.epa.gov/scipoly/sap/meetings/2005/december/minutes1205.pdf
- US-EPA. 2009. Reregistration Eligibility Decision for Dicamba and Associated Salts (Amended). Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides

and Toxic Substances, Washington, D.C. 78 pp. Retrieved from http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=EPA-HQ-OPP-2005-0479-0026

- US-EPA. 2015. *Pesticide Chemical Search Glufosinate*. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pesticide Programs, Washington, D.C. Retrieved from <u>http://iaspub.epa.gov/apex/pesticides/f?p=CHEMICALSEARCH:3:::NO:1,3,31,7,</u> 12,25:P3_XCHEMICAL_ID:2458
- US-FDA. 1998. Guidance for Industry: Use of Antibiotic Resistance Marker Genes in Transgenic Plants, Draft Guidance. United States Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition. Retrieved from <u>http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegulation/GuidanceDocumentsRegulatoryInf</u> ormation/Biotechnology/ucm096135.htm

US-FDA. 2006. Guidance for Industry: Recommendations for the Early Food Safety Evaluation of New Non-Pesticidal Proteins Produced by New Plant Varieties Intended for Food Use. United States Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Office of Food Additive Safety, Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition. Retrieved from <u>http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegulation/GuidanceDocumentsRegulatoryInf</u> ormation/ucm096156.htm

- US-FDA. 2015. *Biotechnology Consultations on Food from GE Plant Varieties*. United States Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition. Retrieved from <u>http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/fdcc/?set=Biocon</u>
- USDA-APHIS. 2010. *Federal Noxious Weed List (Effective as of December 10, 2010).* United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/java/noxious</u>
- USDA-APHIS. 2013. *Plant Pest Risk Assessment for HCEM485 Corn; 09-063-01p.* United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service.
- USDA-APHIS. 2015. *Plant Pest and Disease Programs 2015*. Retrieved from http://www.aphis.usda.gov/plant_health/plant_pest_info/index.shtml.
- USDA-APHIS. 2016. *Petitions for Determination of Nonregulated Status*. Retrieved from https://www.aphis.usda.gov/biotechnology/petitions_table_pending.shtml
- USDA-ERS. 2015. *Corn Overview*. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/crops/corn.aspx</u>
- USDA-NASS. 2015a. Acreage. Retrieved from http://usda.mannlib.cornell.edu/usda/current/Acre/Acre-06-30-2015.pdf
- USDA-NASS. 2015b. U.S. Corn for Grain Production 11-10-15. Retrieved from http://www.nass.usda.gov/Charts_and_Maps/graphics/cornprod.pdf
- USDA-NRCS. 2015a. Zea luxurians. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=ZELU
- USDA-NRCS. 2015b. *Tripsacum dactyloides*. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=TRDA3</u>

- USDA-NRCS. 2015c. *Tripsacum latifolium*. The PLANTS Database, National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27301-4901. USA. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=TRLA24</u>
- USDA-NRCS. 2015d. *Tripsacum fasciculatum*. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=TRFA2</u>
- USDA-NRCS. 2015e. Zea diploperennis. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol_ZEDI
- USDA-NRCS. 2015f. Zea perennis. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=ZEPE
- USDA-NRCS. 2015g. *Tripsacum lanceolatum*. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=TRLA11</u>
- USDA-NRCS. 2015h. *Tripsacum floridatum*. The PLANTS Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=TRFL4
- USDA-NRCS. 2015i. Zea mexicana. The Plants Database. National Plant Data Center, Greensboro, NC 27401-4901. USA. Retrieved from http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=ZEME
- USDA-NRCS. 2016. *Introduced, Invasive, and Noxious Plants*. Unites States Deptartment of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/java/invasiveOne?startChar=Z</u>
- Vencill WK, Nichols RL, Webster TM, Soteres JK, Mallory-Smith C, Burgos NR, Johnson WG, and McClelland MR. 2012. *Herbicide resistance: Toward an understanding of resistance development and the impact of herbicide-resistant crops*. Weed Science 60(sp1):2-30. Retrieved from http://www.wssajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1614/WS-D-11-00206.1
- Vlot AC, Dempsey DMA, and Klessig DF. 2009. *Salicylic ccid, a multifaceted hormone to combat disease*. Annual Review of Phytopathology 47(1):177-206. Retrieved from

http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.phyto.050908.135202

Wang X-Z, Li B, Herman PL, and Weeks DP. 1997. A three-component enzyme system catalyzes the O demethylation of the herbicide dicamba in Pseudomonas maltophilia DI-6. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63(4):1623-6. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop t=Citation&list_uids=16535584

- Wehrmann A, Vliet AV, Opsomer C, Botterman J, and Schulz A. 1996. The similarities of bar and pat gene products make them equally applicable for plant engineers. Nature Biotechnology 14(10):1274-1278. Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/nbt/journal/v14/n10/abs/nbt1096-1274.html
- WHO-IPCS. 1989. Environmental Health Criteria 89: Formaldehyde. Retrieved from http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/ehc89.htm

 Wohlleben W, Arnold W, Broer I, Hillemann D, Strauch E, and Punier A. 1988. Nucleotide sequence of the phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase gene from Streptomyces viridochromogenes Tü494 and its expression in Nicotiana tabacum. Gene 70(1):25-37. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0378111988901011

- Wood DW, Setubal JC, Kaul R, Monks DE, Kitajima JP, Okura VK, Zhou Y, Chen L, Wood GE, Almeida NF, Jr., Woo L, Chen Y, Paulsen IT, Eisen JA, Karp PD, Bovee D, Sr., Chapman P, Clendenning J, Deatherage G, Gillet W, Grant C, Kutyavin T, Levy R, Li MJ, McClelland E, Palmieri A, Raymond C, Rouse G, Saenphimmachak C, Wu Z, Romero P, Gordon D, Zhang S, Yoo H, Tao Y, Biddle P, Jung M, Krespan W, Perry M, Gordon-Kamm B, Liao L, Kim S, Hendrick C, Zhao ZY, Dolan M, Chumley F, Tingey SV, Tomb JF, Gordon MP, Olson MV, and Nester EW. 2001. *The genome of the natural genetic engineer Agrobacterium tumefaciens C58*. Science 294:2317-23. Retrieved from http://www.sciencemag.org/content/294/5550/2317.long
- Wozniak CA. 2002. Gene Flow Assessment for Plant-Incorporated Protectants by the Biopesticide and Pollution Prevention Division, U.S. EPA, Gene Flow Workshop (Columbus Ohio: The Ohio State University), pp. 162-177. Retrieved from http://www.biosci.ohio-state.edu/~asnowlab/Proceed...
- WSSA. 2012. Summary of Herbicide Mechanism of Action According to the Herbicide Resistance Action Committee (HRAC) and Weed Science Society of America (WSSA) Classification. Retrieved from <u>http://wssa.net/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/HerbicideMOAClassification.pdf</u>
- Xi Z, Wang Y, Bradley RK, Sugumaran M, Marx CJ, Rest JS, and Davis CC. 2013. Massive mitochondrial gene transfer in a parasitic flowering plant clade. PLoS Genetics 9(2):e1003265. Retrieved from <u>http://www.plosgenetics.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pgen.10</u> 03265
- Xi Z, Bradley RK, Wurdack KJ, Wong K, Sugumaran M, Bomblies K, Rest JS, and Davis CC. 2012. *Horizontal transfer of expressed genes in a parasitic flowering plant*. BMC Genomics 13:227. Retrieved from http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2164/13/227
- Yang M, Wardzala E, Johal GS, and Gray J. 2004. The wound-inducible Lls1 gene from maize is an orthologue of the Arabidopsis Acd1 gene, and the LLS1 protein is present in non-photosynthetic tissues. Plant Molecular Biology 54(2):175-191. Retrieved from

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/B:PLAN.0000028789.51807.6a

- Yoshida S, Maruyama S, Nozaki H, and Shirasu K. 2010. *Horizontal gene transfer by the parasitic plant Striga hermonthica*. Science 328:1128. Retrieved from http://science.sciencemag.org/content/328/5982/1128.full-text.pdf+html
- Young BG. 2006. Changes in herbicide use patterns and production practices resulting from glyphosate-resistant crops. Weed Technology 20(2):301-307. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/4495680
- Zambryski P, Depicker A, Kruger K, and Goodman HM. 1982. *Tumor induction by Agrobacterium tumefaciens: analysis of the boundaries of T-DNA*. Journal of

Molecular and Applied Genetics 1(4):361-370. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7108407</u>

Zhang J, Chiodini R, Badr A, and Zhang G. 2011. *The impact of next-generation sequencing on genomics*. Journal of Genetics and Genomics 38(3):95-109. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1673852711000300

- Zhu B, Lou M-M, Xie G-L, Zhang G-Q, Zhou X-P, Li B, and Jin G-L. 2011. *Horizontal* gene transfer in silkworm, Bombyx mori. BMC Genomics 12:248. Retrieved from http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2164/12/248
- Züst T and Agrawal AA. 2016. *Mechanisms and evolution of plant resistance to aphids*. Nature Plants 2:e15206. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.206